
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
                                                        
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

ACN 150 287 111 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

ANNUAL REPORT 
30 JUNE 2019 

 



Mosman Oil and Gas Limited                                                                        Annual Report 2019 

 2 

 
Table of Contents 

 
 
Company Directory 3 
  
Chairman’s Letter 4 
  
Directors’ Report 7 
  
Corporate Governance 17 
  
Auditor’s Independence Declaration 36 
  
Independent Auditor’s Report 37 
  
Consolidated Statement of Financial Performance for the Year Ended 30 
June 2019 

40 

  
Consolidated Statement of Financial Position as at 30 June 2019 41 
  
Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity Year Ended 30 June 2019 42 
  
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows Year Ended 30 June 2019 43 
  
Notes to the Financial Statements 44 
  
Directors’ Declaration 74 
  
  

 
 
 
  



Mosman Oil and Gas Limited                                                                        Annual Report 2019 

 3 

 
Company Directory 
 
Directors 
 
John W Barr 
Andrew R Carroll 
John A Young 

Registrars 
 
In Australia:  
Computershare Investor Services Pty Ltd 
Level 2, 45 St Georges Terrace 
Perth Western Australia 6000 
 
In the UK:  
Computershare Investor Services plc 
The Pavilions 
Bridgewater Road 
Bristol BS99 6ZY 
 

Company Secretary 
 
Jarrod White  
 

Head and Registered Office 
 
C/-Traverse Accountants Pty Ltd 
Suite 305, Level 3, 35 Lime Street  
Sydney NSW Australia NSW 2000 
 

Company Website 
 
www.mosmanoilandgas.com 
 

Stock Exchange 
 
AIM Market of the London  
Stock Exchange plc (AIM) 
Stock Symbol: LON: MSMN  
 

Bankers 
 
In Australia:  
National Australia Bank  
 
 
Lawyers 
 
As to English law  
Druces LLP 
 
 
As to Australian law 
DLA Piper  
 

Auditors 
 
Greenwich & Co Audit Pty Ltd  
 
Nominated Adviser & Broker 
 
SP Angel Corporate Finance LLP 
 

 

 

 

 
 
 

 

 

  



Mosman Oil and Gas Limited  
Chairman’s Letter                                                                                         Annual Report 2019 

 4 

 
Chairman’s Letter 
 
Overview of the 2019 financial year   
 
At the conclusion of the 2018 Financial Year, I commented on the challenging outlook for junior oil and 
gas companies, and not withstanding this how Mosman was now in a position to look forward with 
greater optimism as a result of the established production base and that plans for increasing production 
were in place.  
 
The established production base has continued to grow and Mosman’s strategic objectives remained 
unchanged; to identify opportunities which will provide operating cash flow and have development 
upside, in conjunction with progressing exploration of existing exploration permits.  
 
Briefly expressed, this is being delivered by increasing production and cashflow in the USA; and ongoing 
exploration in the Amadeus Basin in Australia. Since the oil price dropped in 2014-15 Mosman has 
continued as explorer whilst gradually building a sustainable company with a sound production and 
revenue base. The task is by no means complete, but it is well underway. With some satisfaction I can 
report that in the 2019 Financial Year Net Production attributable to Mosman was 18,216 boe, compared 
to 10,367 in 2018. This is an increase of some 75%. 
 
Sales increased by some $365,242 (c.50%) but this does not reflect the ongoing position as the first 
two Stanley wells only commenced production during the year, and Stanley-3 not until the first quarter 
in the current financial year, and the Strawn project was sold just prior to year end. 
 
The Board is now also focussed on becoming cashflow positive on a Company level. This is an 
increasingly achievable objective given the recent results from Stanley 1, 2 and 3; combined with further 
drilling which is currently being planned. The gross profit of $285,095 (2018: $234,430) reflects 
Mosman’s working interest share of production income after production costs and after royalty 
payments. Included in the costs are several one off expenses that produced a lower result than the 
Board finds acceptable, including funds spent at Welch on repairs and initial costs at Stanley that have 
been expensed. 
 
Overall, in the year to 30 June 2019, the Company made a loss of $1,208,836 which is a significant 
improvement compared to the 2018 loss of $4,102,231.  
 
Of significance, some $1,679,371 was spent on investing activities on assets in the portfolio during the 
year. That clearly reflects the strategy adopted where available funds are invested into assets. 
 
This, together with the remaining cash at bank, represents a large portion of the net proceeds of funds 
raised during the year of approximately $2.12 Million. 
 
Overhead costs continue to be tightly controlled with reductions in many areas including for the third 
year in a row Director costs. Mosman continues to operate with a very small number of Employees and 
Consultants. The Company operates in three countries and in four-time zones, and the role played by 
the Employees and Consultants is vital in achieving Mosman’s strategic objective. Accordingly, I again 
express my profound gratitude for everyone’s efforts in the year.  
 
The Board fully appreciates shareholder disappointment with the share price. Two of the Company 
executive Directors are heavily invested in Mosman and are also cognisant of the underperformance of 
the share price. Our aim is to continue to deliver growth through developing our current projects and 
further acquisitions, and we look forward to our achievements being more realistically reflected in the 
share price.  
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United States 
 

PRODUCTION IN THE 2019 FINANCIAL YEAR 
   Gross Project 

Production2 BOE1 
Net Production 

to Mosman3 BOE1 

Stanley   20,224 3,355 
Strawn   1,026 821 
Welch   11,347 8,697 
Arkoma   22,911 5,343 
Total Production  55,508 18,216 

 
1BOE/boe – barrels of oil equivalent 
2Gross Project Production – means the production of BOE at a total project level (100% basis) before royalties (where Mosman is the 
Operator) and where Mosman is not the operator the total gross production for the project 
3Net Production – Net to Mosman’s Working interest after royalties 

 
All projects produced a gross profit apart from the Strawn asset. Strawn’s performance since acquisition 
had failed to meet expectations, which led to its divestment at the end of the period as announced on 
1 July 2019.  
 
Stanley 
The Stanley wells have low lifting costs and are particularly attractive. Further production increases are 
expected as the full production for the year at all Stanley wells is not included in the 2018 numbers. 
Additional improvements are anticipated as improvements are made to surface equipment and 
adjustments made to optimise flow rates.  
 
During the Financial year two wells at Stanley were placed on production, and over a period of time the 
flowrates improved due to recompletions and surface equipment additions.  
 
Welch 
Performance at Welch in the year was sound, and that is anticipated to continue 
 
Arkoma 
At Arkoma, Mosman owns a 27% interest in wells as part of a three-way joint venture. The project 
recorded record production in the first quarter of calendar 2019, but subsequently that fell for various 
operational reasons. The Mosman Board met the operator recently and repairs and workovers are 
planned. 
 
Other opportunities 
Mosman in conjunction with its strategic partner, Baja Oil and Gas Inc., has for some time been 
reviewing potential additional production opportunities utilising the proven technique of Seismic followed 
by drilling on older but partially developed leases. This was the approach adopted at the Stanley project 
and the concept is considered fundamentally sound for transition to other potential projects. 
 
Currently this is work in progress, and if an opportunity crystallises, then shareholders will be informed. 
 
Australia 
 
Mosman has continued to complete technical work on its Central Australian exploration projects, 
focussed on the 100% owned EP-145, in the Amadeus Basin. Native title issues to allow ground access 
are being progressively dealt with, and that will enable the planned Seismic survey to proceed. The 
short-term objective is to progress technical work and to secure a joint venture partner to fund the 
planned seismic and the first well. 
 
As a note of interest, the Dukas well drilled nearby has confirmed hydrocarbons below the salt seal. This 
activity has drawn market attention to the very large potential of the Amadeus Basin, and we look 
forward to the Dukas well being completed and results announced.  
 
Infrastructure in the Northern Territory (NT) continues to improve, specifically, the Northern Gas Pipeline 
has now been completed and this provides potential access for NT gas that is now being supplied to the 
Eastern States gas market. 
 
Mosman is awaiting Ministerial consent for the next licence year, but this has not stopped current activity 
which includes finalising the Seismic Survey plans, negotiating with the Traditional Owners for the access 
to complete the seismic work, and at the request of the Government, presenting the project to potential 
joint venture partners in China very recently. 
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Matters subsequent to the reporting period 
 
Production has continued to improve subsequent to the period end. Gross Production for the quarter 
ending 30 September 2019 was a total of 24,141 boe and Net Production was 6,265 boe. This represents 
another increase in production.  
 
Stanley 
Production at Stanley continues. The Stanley project gross production currently exceeds 250 BOPD. This 
number is currently curtailed as at Stanley 1 a new separator is required and this has caused a loss of 
daily production over the last few weeks. It is planned that this will occur in November 2019. 
 
Stanley 3 commenced production during September 2019 and represents another significant addition 
to production.  
 
Planning for the next well, Stanley 4, has begun and a well location identified. The well is expected to 
be drilled in the next 90 days.  
 
The Stanley project should increasingly become the backbone of Mosman’s production base. 
 
Welch 
Production and revenue at the Welch project remain fairly steady, but this project does require periodic 
workovers and upgrading of older equipment.  
 
Arkoma 
As noted above, production at Arkoma fell due to various operational matters. The Company looks 
forward to seeing the benefit of the planned repairs and workovers recently discussed with the operator. 
 
Falcon 
At the Falcon prospect, the participants are considering re-use of an existing well to reduce drilling costs. 
To utilise this well an agreement must be concluded with the owner and then work performed on the 
well to check it is suitable. This is essential work, and the most economic management of resources.  
 
Drilling is anticipated to take place in 2020 and remains subject to various matters including funding.  
 
Other Matters 
 
Very recently the relisting of GEM International Resources Inc (“GEM”) was achieved, and the GEM Board 
are now seeking to recapitalise the Company with a share placing, and subsequently secure operational 
activity by acquiring an interest in a new project. 
 
Mosman has a AUD119,034 loan to GEM, and also a shareholding of approximately 600,000 shares 
(after the recent share roll back). Mosman has previously expensed its investment in GEM, so a recovery 
would be advantageous. In the opinion of Mosman the relisting increases the potential of recovery of 
the loan, and a recovery of a portion of the cost of the shareholding. 
 
Outlook  
 
Mosman’s focus remains delivering on its strategic objective.  We have made considerable progress in 
acquiring projects and building production however this is only the start of this next phase of growth 
and we remain focussed on sustainable production and identifying projects that meet our strict criteria. 
 
 
Yours truly, 
 
 
 
 
 
John W. Barr 
Executive Chairman 
31 October 2019 
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Directors’ Report 
 
Your Directors provide their report as to the results and state of affairs of the Mosman Oil and Gas 
Limited Group of Companies, being the Company (hereafter referred to as “Mosman” or “the Company”) 
and its controlled and associated entities, for the year ended 30 June 2019. Please note that all amounts 
quoted are in Australian Dollars, unless otherwise stated. 
 
Operations Overview 
 
A summary of the current oil and gas projects as at today is below: 
 

MAJOR OPERATING PROJECTS 

Asset Mosman 
Interest1 

Location Status Lease or Well 

USA, Arkoma 27% Oklahoma Producing Leases 
USA, Welch 100% Texas Producing Leases 
USA, Stanley-1 16.5% Texas Producing Well 
USA, Stanley-2 18.5% Texas Producing Well 
USA, Stanley-3 14.9% Texas Producing Well 
USA, Challenger 16.0% Texas Planning Leases 
USA, Champion 60.0% Texas Planning Leases 

 
 

EXPLORATION PROJECTS 

Asset Mosman 
Interest1 

Location Status Permit 
Number 

Licence Renewal 
Date 

Australia, 
Amadeus Basin  

100% 
NT Exploration 

EP 145 Currently awaiting 
Ministerial consent 

Australia, 
Amadeus Basin  

100% 
NT Application 

EPA 155 
N/A 

 
1. Mosman’s Interest is working interest before royalties 

 
Corporate Information 
 
Mosman is an Australian incorporated public company which was admitted to trade its shares on the 
AIM market of the London Stock Exchange in 2014.  
 
At 30 June 2019, Mosman has seven wholly owned Subsidiaries: 
 

1. Mosman Oil USA, Inc; (a USA incorporated company); 
2. Mosman Texas, LLC; (a USA incorporated company); and 
3. Mosman Operating, LLC; (a USA incorporated company.2  
4. OilCo Pty Ltd;  
5. Trident Energy Pty Ltd; 
6. Mosman Oil & Gas Limited (a New Zealand incorporated company)1; 
7. Mosman Oil and Gas (NZ) Limited (a New Zealand incorporated company)1; 

 
1. Mosman has shut down all operations in New Zealand, and the entities are currently in the process of being wound up. 
2. Mosman Operating, LLC is a 100% owned subsidiary of Mosman Oil & Gas Limited.  

 
Details of these Controlled Entities and an Associated Entity are contained in Notes 28 and 29 to the 
Financial Statements.  
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Directors 
 
The names of the Directors of the Company in office during the year and as at the date of this report 
are as follows: 
 
John W Barr     Executive Chairman  
Andrew R Carroll   Director  
John A Young      Non-Executive Director  
 
Directors Meetings 
 
The number of meetings held and attended by each of the directors of the Company during the financial 
period are: 
 
Director 
 

Number of meetings held during 
the time the director held office 

Number of meetings attended 
 

J W Barr 5 5 

A R Carroll 5 5 

J A Young 5 4 

Principal Activities 

The principal activities of the Company during the financial year were oil exploration, development and 
production. 
 
Corporate Financial Position 
 
As at 30 June 2019 the Company had current assets of $ 1,267,836 (2018: $1,597,475). 

Results of Operations 

The net loss of the Company for the year ended 30 June 2019 was $1,208,836 (2018: $4,102,231). 
 
Future Developments, Prospects and Business Strategies 
 
The Company proposes to continue its focus on its strategic objective to identify opportunities which 
will provide operating cash flow and have development upside, in conjunction with exploration of 
existing exploration permits. 
 
Significant Changes 

The Company sold its previously operated Strawn project for US$75,000. 
 
Revenues of $56,310 and net operating losses of $23,270 for the year will therefore be non-recurring 
and cost efficiencies from this divestment will be redirected into the company’s higher profitability 
projects in the Stanley well development and Challenger/Champion field developments. 
 
In the opinion of the Directors there were no other significant changes in the state of affairs of the 
Company that occurred during the financial year under review. 
 
Events Subsequent to the End of the Financial Year 
 
Subsequent to balance date the company notes the following material developments to the group: 
 

 The sale of Strawn was formally announced on 1 July 2019. The sale had concluded but for the 
final signing of documents in the last week of the 30 June 2019 financial year meaning that all 
net losses and items associated with Strawn are reflected in the accounts to 30 June 2019; 

 Mosman is awaiting Ministerial consent for the next licence year for the EP 145 project; 
 Stanley-2 well that was drilled in March 2019 was successfully placed into regular production in 

July 2019; 
 Stanley-3 well was spudded in August 2019. The well was successfully developed and 

completed. The Company reported in September 2019 that during flow testing the stabilised 
rate of the well was 192 bopd which was updated in October 2019 to be an average of 115.6 
bopd and expected to settled over the coming months; 
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 GEM International Resources Inc was listed on the Canadian NEX exchange. This asset has been 

100% impaired in previous financial periods  
 In addition to Mosman’s equity holding, there is an AUD119,034 loan owed by GEM to Mosman. 

 
In the opinion of the Directors there were no other significant changes in the state of affairs of the 
Company that occurred during the financial year under review. 
 
Dividends 
 
No amounts were paid by way of dividends since the end of the previous financial period and the 
Directors do not recommend a payment of a dividend. 
 
Environmental Regulations 
 
The Board believes that the Company has adequate systems in place for the management of its 
environmental requirements and is not aware of any breach of those environmental requirements as 
they apply to the company.  
 
Information on Directors  
 
Director Qualifications, experience & special responsibilities 

J W Barr CA FAICD 
Executive Chairman 
 
Mr. John W Barr is a Chartered Accountant and Fellow of the Australian Institute of 
Company Directors and has acted as Director of listed and unlisted companies for over 
thirty years.  He has extensive Australian and international experience with exposure 
to manufacturing, mining and mineral exploration and development in respect to 
several commodities. 
 
Mr. Barr specialises in the management of private and public companies including 
advice on capital raisings, mergers and acquisitions, negotiating onshore and offshore 
acquisitions and joint ventures, negotiating commodity-based funding, and compliance 
with corporate and stock exchange requirements. 

 
A R Carroll 

 
MA, BA 
Technical Director 
 
Mr. Carroll has over 30 years of oil industry experience, from permit applications and 
initial exploration operations including drilling, to development, production and 
marketing of oil and gas. Initially worked at BP and led the E&P division of InterOil 
Corporation from applying for Permits to discovery of a new petroleum system in Papua 
New Guinea (PNG) that is now being developed for LNG exports. 
 
International experience includes UK, Canada, Australia, NZ and PNG. Currently 
founder and Managing Director of Australasian Energy Pty Ltd and Chairman of ASX 
listed High Peak Royalties Ltd.  
 

J A Young 
 
 
 
 
 
 

B App Sc (Geol), Grad Dip Tech Management, MAUSIMM 
Non-Executive Director 
 
Mr. Young is a geologist with 25 years’ experience in resource project management and 
corporate management.  He is a Member of the Australian Institute of Mining and 
Metallurgy and has worked on a wide variety of mineral and resource projects 
throughout Australia and overseas.  In addition, Mr. Young has held senior 
management and operational positions.   
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Information on Company Secretary & Chief Financial Officer 

J T White Bachelor of Business, CA & CTA 
 
Mr. White is a Chartered Accountant and founding Director of Traverse Accountants 
Pty Ltd, a Corporate Advisory and Chartered Accounting Firm. In conjunction with his 
Corporate Advisory roles at Traverse Mr. White has been appointed Company  
 
Secretary and Chief Financial Officer of several other listed entities that operate on 
the Australian Stock Exchange and has a sound knowledge of corporate governance 
and compliance. Jarrod has also been an advisor to a wide range of capital raisings, 
IPO’s and reverse takeover transactions and has a focus on working with growing 
Companies in the exploration, technology and biotech space. 

Indemnification and Insurance of Officers 

The Company has previously entered into Deeds of Indemnity, Insurance and Access with officers of the 
Company which continued throughout this financial year. 
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REMUNERATION REPORT 
 
1.  Principles of Remuneration 
 
This report details the amount and nature of remuneration of each Key Management Person (‘KMP’) of the 
Company. The KMP have authority and responsibility for planning and controlling the activities of the 
Company.    
 
Board Members’ Remuneration Policy  
 
The remuneration policy is to provide a fixed directors fee component (Directors receive an annual fee, of 
$30,000, and the Chairman receives an annual fee of $60,000); and a consulting fees component based on 
actual days worked. The Board believes that this remuneration policy is appropriate given the stage of 
development of the Company and the activities which it undertakes and is appropriate in aligning director 
objectives with shareholder and business objectives. 
 
2. Board of Director’s Remuneration Arrangements 
 
At Admission, the Board established a Remuneration Committee responsible for making recommendations 
to the Board on remuneration arrangements for Directors and executives of the Company.  
 
                                                                                                           
KMP Fees and Consulting Fees Paid 

Year to  
30 June 2019 

Year to 
30 June 2018 

J W Barr – Executive Chairman $220,7501 $246,625 

A R Carroll – Technical Director $218,0002 $270,000 
J A Young – Non-Executive Director $30,0003 $30,000 
J T White – Company Secretary  $80,4234 $86,464 
Total $ 549,173 $633,089 

 
1. Directors fees of $60,000 and consulting fees of $160,750 were paid and payable to Kensington 

Advisory Services Pty Ltd; 
 

2. Director fees of $30,000 and consulting fees of $188,000 were paid and payable to Australasian 
Energy Pty Ltd;  
 

3. Directors fees of $30,000 were paid to J A Young; and 
 

4. CFO, Company Secretary and Consulting Fees totalling $80,423 were paid and payable to J T White’s 
accounting firm, Traverse Accountants Pty Ltd. 

 
Options  
 
Other than disclosed below, no options were issued to Directors during the financial year ending 30 June 
2019.  
 
There is no direct link between remuneration paid to any of the KMP and corporate performance such as 
bonus payments for achievements of key performance indicators. 
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Options issued to the Directors and management of the Company are as follows: 
 

Name Position 

Number of 
New Share 

Options 
Granted 

Existing 
exercisable 
options on 

issue directly 
and indirectly 

held 

Total 
Options 

Held  

Mr John W Barr Executive Chairman 10,000,0001 - 13,000,000 

Mr Andrew R Carroll Technical Director 10,000,0001 - 13,000,000 

Mr John A Young 
Non-Executive 
Director - - 1,500,000 

Mr Jarrod White CFO - - 1,000,000 
Mr Howard 
McLaughlin 

US Operations 
Manager - - 750,000 

Total  20,000,000 - 29,250,000 
 

1. Options acquired by key management personnel and their associates in the year related are free attaching options on 
shares purchased. 

 
Service Agreements 
 
The Executive Chairman, Mr. John W Barr 
 
J W Barr is employed under a contract for services with Kensington Advisory Services Pty Ltd. The 
Agreement commenced on 16 January 2015. 
 
Under the terms of the present contract: 
 
 Mr Barr's services as an executive are contracted pursuant to an agreement between Mosman and 

Mr Barr's nominee, Kensington Advisory Services Pty Ltd (Kensington); 
 Mosman or Kensington may terminate the agreement for any reason by providing six months written 

notice to the other; 
 In accordance with that agreement, Mr Barr must provide a minimum of 12 days per month of 

service to Mosman for a retainer of A$15,000 per month. In addition, if required, additional services 
will be provided at a daily rate of A$1,250 per day. 

 
The Technical Director, Mr. Andrew R Carroll 
 
A R Carroll is employed under a contract for services with Australasian Energy Pty Ltd. The Agreement 
commenced on 19 Jan 2015. 
 
Under the terms of the present contract: 
 

 Mr Carroll's services as an executive are contracted pursuant to an agreement between Mosman 
and Mr Carroll's nominee, Australasian Energy Pty Ltd (Australasian Energy);  

 Mosman or Australasian Energy may terminate the agreement for any reason by providing six 
months written notice to the other; 

 In accordance with that agreement, Mr Carroll must provide a minimum of five days per month of 
service to Mosman for a retainer of A$10,000 per month. In addition, if required, additional services 
will be provided at a daily rate of A$2,000 per day.  

 
The Non-Executive Director, Mr. John A Young 
 
J A Young is employed under a contract for services with Metallon Resources Pty Ltd. 
 
Under the terms of the present contract: 

 
 Mr. Young provides consultancy services to Mosman pursuant to a consultancy agreement between 

the Company, Mr Young's nominee, Metallon Resources Pty Ltd (Metallon), and Mr Young dated 25 
May 2014; 

 In accordance with that agreement, Mr Young will be paid for services as a Director by retainer of 
$30,000 per annum, and where required up to eight days per month of service to the Company for 
a retainer of $100 per hour to a maximum of $1,000 per day. Throughout the 2019 year, Mr Young 
provided no additional services to his retainer as a Director; 
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 This agreement commenced on 1 June 2014 and continues until terminated by either Mosman or 

Metallon by giving not less than 3 months written notice. 
 
The Company Secretary, Mr. Jarrod T White  
 
J T White is employed under a contract for services with Traverse Accountants Pty Ltd.  
 
Under the terms of the contract: 
 
 Mr. White’s provides services to Mosman are pursuant to a consultancy agreement between the 

Company and Mr White’s nominee, Traverse Accountants Pty Ltd. In accordance with the 
engagement, Mr White provides Company Secretarial and CFO services for a fee of $3,750 and $750 
per month respectively and any additional amounts are invoiced on a time cost basis. 

 
Board of Directors’ Dealings in Company Securities 
 
As more fully disclosed in the Financial Statements (Note 17 – Contributed Equity), at 30 June 2019, 
the Company had issued 885,810,968 Ordinary Shares (2018 – 495,083,695).  
 
During the financial year, the Directors took part of the share placement in December 2018. The total 
raised from Director participation was $198,000. 
 
The Directors (and their related entities) owned the following shares and options of the Company as at 
30 June 2019, representing 5.99% of the undiluted issued capital of Mosman at that: 
 

Director Title 

Directors’ 
Interest in 

Ordinary 
Shares 

 
Company 

Ownership 

Directors’ 
Interest in 

Unlisted Options 

John W Barr Executive Chairman 30,100,001 3.40% 13,000,000 1 
Andrew R Carroll Technical Director 21,876,500 2.47% 13,000,000 2 
John A Young Non-Executive Director 1,050,000 0.12% 1,500,000 3 

Total Director Holdings 53,026,501 5.99%         27,500,000        
 
1. Comprises of: 

a. 3,000,000 Mosman Options with an exercise price of 2 Great British Pence and an expiry 
date of 18 December 2020; and 

b. 10,000,000 Mosman Options with an exercise price of 0.4 Great British Pence and an 
expiry date of 08 December 2020. 

 
2. Comprises of:  

a. 3,000,000 Mosman Options with an exercise price of 2 Great British Pence and an expiry 
date of 18 December 2020; and 

b. 10,000,000 Mosman Options with an exercise price of 0.4 Great British Pence and an 
expiry date of 08 December 2020. 

 
3. Comprises of:  

a. 1,500,000 Mosman Options having an exercise price of 2 Great British Pence and an 
expiry date of 18 December 2020. 
 

Mosman Locked-In Shares 

 

At the date of this report, no shares held by directors or key management personnel are escrowed. 

 

 

  



Mosman Oil and Gas Limited  
Directors’ Report Continued  Annual Report 2019 

 14 

 

KMP Share Holdings  

 

The number of shares held by each KMP of the Group during the financial year is as follows: 

 

ORDINARY 
SHARES 

30 June 2018 
Balance 

Issued on Exercise of 
Options during the Year 

Other Changes 
during the Year 

30 June 2019 
Balance 

   J W Barr 10,100,001 - 20,000,000 30,100,001

   A Carroll 1,876,500 - 20,000,000 21,876,500

   J Young 1,050,000 - - 1,050,000

  Totals 13,026,501 - 40,000,000 53,026,501

  

ORDINARY 
SHARES 

30 June 2017 
Balance 

Issued on Exercise of 
Options during the Year 

Other Changes 
during the Year 

30 June 2018 
Balance 

   J W Barr 10,100,001 - - 10,100,001 

   A Carroll 1,876,500 - - 1,876,500 

   J Young 1,050,000 - - 1,050,000 

  Totals 13,026,501 - - 13,026,501 

 

KMP Option Holdings  

 

The number of options held by each KMP of the Group during the financial year is as follows: 

 

OPTIONS 

 

30 June 
2018   

Balance 

Granted as 
Remuneration 

during the Year 

Issued 
during the 

Year 

Options lapsed 
during the year 

30 June 
2019  

Balance 

Vested and 
Exercisable 

   J W Barr 4,000,000 - 10,000,000 (1,000,000) 13,000,000 - 

   A Carroll 4,000,000 - 10,000,000 (1,000,000) 13,000,000 - 

   J Young 1,500,000 - - - 1,500,000 - 

  Totals 9,500,000 - 20,000,000 (2,000,000) 27,500,000 - 

 

OPTIONS 

 

30 June 
2017   

Balance 

Granted as 
Remuneration 

during the Year 

Exercised 
during the 

Year 

Options lapsed 
during the year 

30 June 
2018  

Balance 

Vested and 
Exercisable 

   J W Barr 1,500,000 3,000,000 - (500,000) 4,000,000 4,000,000 

   A Carroll 2,000,000 3,000,000 - (1,000,000) 4,000,000 4,000,000 

   J Young 500,000 1,500,000 - (500,000) 1,500,000 1,500,000 

  Totals 4,000,000 7,500,000 - (2,000,000) 9,500,000 9,500,000 
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Options 
 
As of the date of signing this report, unissued options of the Company under option were: 
 

Grant Date 
Number of Options on 

Issue Exercise Price Expiry Date 

18 December 2017 10,000,000 
2 Great British 

Pence 
18 December 

2020 

14 February 2018 750,000 
2 Great British 

Pence 14 February 2023 

23 November 2018 70,909,091 
0.4 Great British 

Pence 
23 November 

2020 

08 December 2018 20,000,000 
0.4 Great British 

Pence 
08 December 

2020 

Total Unlisted Options     101,659,091   
 
The above options represent unissued ordinary shares of the Company under option as at the date of 
this report.  These unlisted options do not entitle the holder to participate in any share issue of the 
Company. The holders of unlisted options are not entitled to any voting rights until the options are 
exercised into ordinary shares.  
 
Since 30 June 2019 and up until the date of this report, no options have been exercised. 
 
No person entitled to exercise any option has or had, by virtue of the option, a right to participate in 
any share issue of any other body corporate. 
 
Warrants 
 
As of the date of signing this report, unissued ordinary shares of the Company under option were: 
 

Grant Date Number of 
Warrants on Issue 

Exercise Price Expiry Date 

30 October 2015 18,411,233 5 Great British Pence  30 October 2020 

Total Unlisted Warrants    18,411,233   
 
Amounts Outstanding from Subsidiaries 
 

Trident Energy Pty Ltd 

At 30 June 2019 the Company’s 100% owned subsidiary, Trident Energy Pty Ltd, owed Mosman Oil and 
Gas Limited $2,883,384 (2018: $2,808,467). 

 

OilCo Pty Ltd 

At 30 June 2019 the Company’s 100% owned subsidiary, OilCo Pty Ltd (OilCo), owed Mosman Oil and 
Gas Limited $776,412 (2018: $778,717). 
 
Mosman Oil USA, Inc 
At 30 June 2019 the Company’s 100% owned subsidiary, Mosman Oil USA, Inc, owed Mosman Oil and 
Gas Limited $3,751,440 (2018: $2,643,885). 
 
Other Related Party Transactions 
 
Since the last financial year, no director of the Company has received or become entitled to receive a 
benefit included (other than a benefit in the aggregated amount of emoluments, received or due and 
receivable by directors shown in the accounts) by reason of a contract made by the Company with the 
director or with a firm of which he is a member, or with an entity in which he has a substantial financial 
interest 
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Non-Audit Services 
 
The Board of Directors is satisfied that the provision of non-audit services during the year is compatible 
with the general standard of independence for auditors imposed by the Corporations Act 2001. The 
directors are satisfied that the services disclosed below did not compromise the external auditor’s 
independence for the following reasons: 

 all non-audit services are reviewed and approved by the audit committee prior to commencement 
to ensure they do not adversely affect the integrity and objectivity of the auditor; and 

 the nature of the services provided does not compromise the general principles relating to auditor 
independence in accordance with APES 110: Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants set by 
the Accounting Professional and Ethical Standards Board. 

No fees were paid or payable to Greenwich & Co Audit Pty Ltd for non-audit services provided during the 
year ended 30 June 2019 (2018: $NIL). 
 
Proceedings on Behalf of the Company 
 
Blackstone Oil & Gas, Inc., has defaulted on a promissory note to Mosman Texas, LLC, related to the 
Arkoma project. On September 9, 2019, Mosman Texas, LLC, recovered a judgment for US$171,349.56 
against Blackstone Oil & Gas, Inc., in the 90th Judicial District Court of Young County, Texas. As of 
October 29, 2019, a motion for new trial filed by Blackstone Oil & Gas, Inc., is pending. Currently, 
Mosman is waiting for the judgment to become final. 
 
Aside from the above, no person has applied for leave of court to bring proceedings on behalf of the 
Company or intervene in any proceedings to which the Company is a party for the purposes of taking 
responsibility on behalf of the Company for all or any part of the proceedings. 
 
The Company was not party to any other proceeding during the year.  
 
Auditor Independence Declaration 
 
The auditor’s independence declaration as required under s307c of the Corp Act 2001 is included in the 
financial report and forms part of the financial report for the financial year ended 30 June 2019. 
 
 
 
 
Signed in accordance with a resolution of the Directors. 
 
 
 
 
 
John W. Barr 
Executive Chairman 
31 October 2019
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT 

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE 

 
This Corporate Governance Statement (“CGS”) has been prepared by the Executive Chairman of the 
Company in accordance with the recommendations of the QCA Corporate Governance Code 2018 (the 
“Code”). The CGS explains how the 10 Principles of the QCA Code are applied by the Company and 
where it departs from the QCA Code an explanation of the reasons for doing so is provided.  
 
The information will need to be reviewed annually and the website should include the date on which the 
information was last reviewed. Going forward this is likely to be done reviewed at the same time as the 
Annual Report and Accounts are prepared.  
 
Role of the Executive Chairman and application of the QCA Code 
 
Responsibility for corporate governance lies with the Executive Chairman and the Board has a collective 
responsibility and legal obligation to promote the long-term success of the Company.  
  
The Board's primary role is the protection and enhancement of medium to long term shareholder value.  
To fulfil this role, the Board is responsible for the overall Corporate Governance of the Company including 
its strategic direction, establishing goals for management and monitoring the achievement of these 
goals.    
 
The Board of Directors of Mosman Oil and Gas Limited (the “Company”) has established high standards 
for the Company’s employees, officers and directors. It is the duty of the Board of Directors to oversee 
the management of the Company’s business and to ensure the Company as a whole and the Company´s 
representatives behave in a manner that is fitting of the Company´s corporate and social responsibilities.  
To discharge this duty, the Board of Directors follows the procedures and standards that are contained 
in the Corporate Governance Guidelines established through the UK Quoted Company (“QCA”) corporate 
governance code with exceptions noted below: 
 

 QCA Code Recommendation Application by the Company 
 
 

1.  Principle 1 
 

Establish a strategy and 
business model which promote 
long-term value for shareholders 
 
 The board must be able to 

express a shared view of the 
company’s purpose, business 
model and strategy.  

 It should go beyond the simple 
description of products and 
corporate structures and set out 
how the company intends to 
deliver shareholder value in the 
medium to long-term.  

 It should demonstrate that the 
delivery of long-term growth is 
underpinned by a clear set of 
values aimed at protecting the 
company from unnecessary risk 
and securing its long-term 
future. 

Mosman strategic objective remains to identify 
opportunities which will provide operating cash flow 
and have development upside, in conjunction with 
exploration of existing exploration permits. 
 
The current medium term focus through wholly 
owned subsidiary Mosman Oil USA Inc is on 
developing the existing production assets in the 
USA to deliver production increases and cash flow, 
which has included identifying key assets of 
production which have been inefficient and 
providing investment to increase the production 
rates at a well head level, by utilising modern 
technics of exploration and development and 
production, this includes a range of on field 
techniques and desk top determinations 
 
Longer term focus is on the acquisition of assets 
that will provide increasing production 
opportunities, which leads to higher value to 
shareholders. This is to be achieved by the 
acquisition of oil and gas field assets which have 
been under-producing of their potential, with the 
application of capital investment to produce higher 
production rates; 
 
Australian projects are focused on early stage 
exploration and the identification of new potential 
production assets. 
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2.  Principle 2 
 
Seek to understand and meet 
shareholder needs and 
expectations 
 
 Directors must develop a good 

understanding of the needs and 
expectations of all elements of 
the company’s shareholder 
base.  

 The board must manage 
shareholders’ expectations and 
should seek to understand the 
motivations behind shareholder 
voting decisions. 
 

Mosman keeps its shareholder base up to date via 
the Regulatory News Service (RNS) of the London 
Stock Exchange, as well as investor presentations 
and interviews, in an effort to communicate with 
shareholders more effectively. The Company 
attempts to maintain regular news flow and 
includes contact details on all its news releases to 
enhance the information it shares and to ensure 
ongoing dialogue with shareholders.  
The Company also has engaged a profession 
service organisation to run news flow via a twitter 
account. 
 
The Board views the Annual General Meeting as a 
forum for communication between the Company 
and all its shareholders and encourages and 
welcomes their participation in its agenda. The 
Directors attempt to attend the Annual General 
Meeting and are available to answer questions; 
 
The combination of these avenues has provided 
information flow to investors and increased the 
visibility of the vision of Mosman to shareholders. 
The Executive Chairman takes a proactive 
approach to providing production data to the 
market to provide stakeholders with timely 
information and detailed half yearly updates; 
 
Increased shareholder engagement with the 
Company has been sought by the dissemination of, 
in particular, production rates of the producing 
assets that are held by the Company; 
 
The Directors seek to maintain regular contact with 
significant and engaged shareholders and the 
Company works with its Broker in London as a 
point of contact for all shareholders, in order to 
gauge the needs and expectations of shareholders 
in the Company; 
 
The company website is monitored and regularly 
updated to be a source of useful information to 
stakeholders. 

3.  Principle 3 
 
Take into account wider 
stakeholder and social 
responsibilities and their 
implications for long-term 
success 
 
 Long-term success relies upon 

good relations with a range of 
different stakeholder groups 
both internal (workforce) and 
external (suppliers, customers, 
regulators and others). The 
board needs to identify the 
company’s stakeholders and 
understand their needs, 
interests and expectations 

The Company’s business model and strategy are 
clearly laid out in the Annual Report. The Executive 
Chairman reaches out to the Company’s 
stakeholders by regular communication via the 
publication of announcements through RNS, as well 
as through roadshows; 
 
Other than shareholders, the Board has identified 
the Company’s stakeholders to include staff, 
suppliers, customers, joint venture partners, fellow 
working interest partners in projects, landowners, 
local governments and the wider community. The 
Company uses its local agents to liaise and work 
closely with all operational stakeholders in the 
business including suppliers, landowners, 
government authorities and workers; 
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 Where matters that relate to the 
company’s impact on society, 
the communities within which it 
operates or the environment 
have the potential to affect the 
company’s ability to deliver 
shareholder value over the 
medium to long-term, then 
those matters must be 
integrated into the company’s 
strategy and business model.  

 Feedback is an essential part of 
all control mechanisms. Systems 
need to be in place to solicit, 
consider and act on feedback 
from all stakeholder groups. 
 

Through Mosman Oil USA Inc, Mosman Operating 
LLC and Mosman Texas USA works with the local 
Texas Rail Road authorities to ensure compliance 
with local laws and regulations with respect to 
operated oil and gas production assets; 
 
Through wholly owned Trident Energy Pty Ltd the 
group has also ensured good relations with the 
Northern Territory Department of Mines and Energy 
including compliance with annual reporting and 
expenditure obligations on permits owned by 
Trident. The requirement to work with traditional 
owners in the indigenous community to coordinate 
rights of access and working with the indigenous 
community generally is also acknowledged as a key 
responsibility of the Company; 
 
The entire group across all jurisdictions seeks to 
apply best practices for the protection of the 
environment and for the benefit of the local 
community; 
 
In addition to the above, the Company monitors 
social media platforms and blogging community 
websites from time to time to identify potential 
concerns which may have been raised. As a result, 
the Executive Chairman proactively engages with 
stakeholders and works to address any feedback in 
a timely manner while remaining vigilant of the 
Market Abuse Regulations’ restrictions on inside 
information and the AIM Rules for Companies. 

4.  Principle 4 
 
Embed effective risk 
management, considering both 
opportunities and threats, 
throughout the organisation 
 
 The board needs to ensure that 

the company’s risk management 
framework identifies and 
addresses all relevant risks in 
order to execute and deliver 
strategy; companies need to 
consider their extended 
business, including the 
company’s supply chain, from 
key suppliers to end-customer. 

 Setting strategy includes 
determining the extent of 
exposure to the identified risks 
that the company is able to bear 
and willing to take (risk 
tolerance and risk appetite). 

The Company and its directors have identified and 
keep under consideration the risks facing the 
Company and its subsidiaries. In view of the 
current position of the Company and its activities 
these are limited. 
 
The Board is responsible for putting in place and 
communicating a sound system to manage risk and 
implement.  
 
The key risks are also outlined in the analysis of 
risks contained in the Company’s annual report. 
  
Management determines the Company’s risk profile 
and is responsible for overseeing and approving 
risk management strategy and policies, internal 
compliance and internal control. The Company’s 
process of risk management and internal 
compliance and control includes:  
  

a) establishing the Company’s goals and 
objectives, and implementing and 
monitoring strategies and policies to 
achieve these goals and objectives; 

b) continuously identifying and reacting to 
risks that might impact upon the 
achievement of the Company’s goals and 
objectives, and monitoring the 
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environment for emerging factors and 
trends that affect these risks; 

c) formulating risk management strategies to 
manage identified risks and designing and 
implementing appropriate risk management 
policies and internal controls; and 
(monitoring the performance of, and 
continuously improving the effectiveness 
of, risk management systems and internal 
compliance and controls, including an 
ongoing assessment of the effectiveness of 
risk management and internal compliance 
and control. 

 
Within the identified risk profile of the Company, 
comprehensive practices are in place that are 
directed towards achieving the following 
objectives:  
 

a) effectiveness and efficiency in the use of 
the Company’s resources;  

b) compliance with applicable laws and 
regulations; and  

c) preparation of reliable published financial 
information.  

  
The Board oversees an ongoing assessment of the 
effectiveness of risk management and internal 
compliance and control.  
 

5.  Principle 5 
 
Maintain the board as a well-
functioning, balanced team led 
by the chair 

 
 The board members have a 

collective responsibility and legal 
obligation to promote the 
interests of the company and 
are collectively responsible for 
defining corporate governance 
arrangements. Ultimate 
responsibility for the quality of, 
and approach to, corporate 
governance lies with the chair of 
the board. 

 The board (and any committees) 
should be provided with high 
quality information in a timely 
manner to facilitate proper 
assessment of the matters 
requiring a decision or insight. 

 The board should have an 
appropriate balance between 
executive and non-executive 
directors and should have at 
least two independent non-
executive directors. 
Independence is a board 
judgement. 

 The board should be supported 
by committees (e.g. audit, 

In view of the size of the Company and limited 
activities and available management 
resourcing/responsibilities the company, there is 
currently only one Independent NED on the Board 
of Mosman, Mr John Young; 
 
Currently the balance of non-executive to executive 
directors does not comply with the QCA 
recommendations however the Board regularly 
reviews the size and scale of company operations 
and requirements to ensure that this is appropriate 
for operations at the time. It is the intention of the 
Board to add further NED’s as the complexity of 
operations increases;   
 
The Company has two part time employees and 
largely operates using consultants, meaning that 
the available internal resources outside of the 
Board are limited; 
 
The Executive Chairman Mr John W Barr and 
Technical Director Mr Andy Carroll play an active 
role in the business taking on management and 
operational responsibilities; 
 
The Board appreciates that the QCA Code advises 
that save in exceptional circumstances, the 
chairman should not also fulfil the role of chief 
executive. Given the current size, stage of 
development and limited resources of the 
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remuneration, nomination) that 
have the necessary skills and 
knowledge to discharge their 
duties and responsibilities 
effectively. 

 Directors must commit the time 
necessary to fulfill their roles. 

 

Company, the Board considers this combined role 
is currently merited, although this will be 
monitored as the Company grows. 
 
The Group retains an outsourced Company 
Secretary/CFO, Mr Jarrod White, who provides a 
level of independent review and added 
management and financial capability to assist the 
Board. Mr White is a Chartered Accountant and 
director of Traverse Accountants, a Corporate 
Advisory and Chartered Accounting firm in Sydney 
Australia. Further details of Mr White’s 
qualifications can be found in the most recent 
Annual Report. This can be found on the Mosman 
website, as linked:  
 
https://mosmanoilandgas.com/financial-reports 
 
The Directors are of a view that the Company does 
not currently require a separate CFO to be 
appointed to the board due to the current scale of 
operations and financial experience of the 
directors. In particular the Company’s Executive 
Chairman, John W Barr, is a Chartered Accountant 
and Fellow of the Australian Institute of Company 
Directors.  
 
Remuneration for Director fees is separate to 
remuneration for additional consulting services 
performed as required meaning that Directors have 
the time and motivation to discharge their duties; 
 
The time commitments for the Company’s NED is 
approximately 10 hours per month; 
 
There were 5 meetings held in FY19 with 
attendance as below: 

o John Barr – 5 
o Andrew Carroll – 5 
o John Young – 4 

 
An audit committee, comprising John W Barr and 
John Young has been established to determine the 
application of financial reporting and internal 
control principles, including reviewing the 
effectiveness of the Group’s financial reporting, 
internal control and risk management procedures 
and the scope, quality and results of the external 
audit. The audit committee will be chaired by John 
W Barr; 
 
A remuneration committee, comprising John Young 
and Andrew Carroll has also been established to 
review the performance of the executive directors. 
Directorial renumeration and renumeration of any 
other services provided by Directors are set in 
accordance with contracts established in 2014, and 
which are disclosed in Annual reports. Any 
directors’ option schemes are approved by 
shareholders at a General Meeting. Each of the 
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executive directors will take no part in discussions 
concerning their remuneration. The remuneration 
committee is chaired by John Young. The 
remuneration of all directors will be reviewed by 
the board. 
 
Given the size of the Company the Board has agreed 
that appointments to the Board should be made by 
the Board as a whole so Mosman has not created a 
nominations committee.   

6.  Principle 6 
 
Ensure that between them the 
directors have the necessary up-
to-date experience, skills and 
capabilities 
 
 The board must have an 

appropriate balance of sector, 
financial and public markets 
skills and experience, as well as 
an appropriate balance of 
personal qualities and 
capabilities. The board should 
understand and challenge its 
own diversity, including gender 
balance, as part of its 
composition. 

 The board should not be 
dominated by one person or a 
group of people. Strong personal 
bonds can be important but can 
also divide a board. 

 As companies evolve, the mix of 
skills and experience required on 
the board will change, and board 
composition will need to evolve 
to reflect this change. 

The existing board of directors brings a balance of 
skills and experience to the Company, including 
legal, financial, mining, petroleum engineering and 
market expertise. Details of each director are given 
in the biographies of each director in the annual 
report and within the Company’s web site below: 
 
http://mosmanoilandgas.com/directors 
 
Where the Board requires additional skills and 
experience to effectively perform their roles as 
directors the Company seeks input from 
professional and strategic advisors. 
 
All directors and external adviser information can 
be found within the Information on Directors 
section of the most recent Annual Report. This can 
be found on the Mosman website, as per the link 
below:  
 
https://mosmanoilandgas.com/financial-
reports/2018 
 
All directors attend external training as required by 
their positions within the Board or professional 
membership requirements. 
 
The Company will continue to monitor the need to 
bring additional skills onto the board as appropriate 
as the Company grows and evolves, including the 
appointment of a second non executive director. 

7.  Principle 7 
 
Evaluate board performance 
based on clear and relevant 
objectives, seeking continuous 
improvement 

 
 The board should regularly 

review the effectiveness of its 
performance as a unit, as well 
as that of its committees and 
the individual directors.  

 The board performance review 
may be carried out internally or, 
ideally, externally facilitated 
from time to time. The review 
should identify development or 
mentoring needs of individual 
directors or the wider senior 
management team.  

As part of the annual review of the performance of 
the Board, the appropriate size, composition and 
terms and conditions of appointment to and 
retirement from the Board are considered. The 
level of remuneration for non-executive directors is 
considered with regard to practices of other public 
companies and the aggregate amount of fees 
approved by shareholders. The Board also reviews 
the appropriate criteria for Board membership 
collectively.  
 
The Board has established processes to review its 
own performance and the performance of individual 
directors and the committees of the Board, 
annually. Directors are reviewed based on their 
attendance and contributions to meetings of the 
Board and the relevance of their experience to the 
operations and decisions of the plan as it executes 
its objectives.  The board has concluded that the 
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 It is healthy for membership of 
the board to be periodically 
refreshed. Succession planning 
is a vital task for boards. No 
member of the board should 
become indispensable. 

current team and committee structure are suitable 
for the businesses current stage of operations. The 
Board expects to continue to use the same 
evaluation process for the next annual review 
however this may evolve further as operations and 
the needs of the business become more complex. 
 
Additionally, one third of the Directors under the 
Company constitution are required to stand for 
election annually offering shareholders the ability 
to consider the performance of that particular 
Director throughout their last term as a Director.  
 
Shareholders are encouraged to attend Members 
Annual General Meetings. The Company has also 
kept an active presence through services such as 
ProActive Investors and Gable Media who assist in 
the coordination of various communications and  
Director interviews that are publishes. The 
Company has also attended industry forums to 
assist in the engagement and promotion of the 
Company. 
 
The board has not currently undertaken any 
succession planning due to the limited extent of 
current operations and relatively small number of 
employees and directors. The Board will evaluate 
the need for succession planning as the Company’s 
operations continue to develop. 

8.  Principle 8 
 
Promote a corporate culture that 
is based on ethical values and 
behaviours 
 
 The board should embody and 

promote a corporate culture that 
is based on sound ethical values 
and behaviours and use it as an 
asset and a source of 
competitive advantage. 

 The policy set by the board 
should be visible in the actions 
and decisions of the chief 
executive and the rest of the 
management team. Corporate 
values should guide the 
objectives and strategy of the 
company. 

 The culture should be visible in 
every aspect of the business, 
including recruitment, 
nominations, training and 
engagement. The performance 
and reward system should 
endorse the desired ethical 
behaviours across all levels of 
the company. 

 The corporate culture should be 
recognisable throughout the 
disclosures in the annual report, 
website and any other 

The Board is aware that the tone and culture set by 
the Board will greatly impact all aspects of the 
Company as a whole and the way that employees 
behave. The Executive Chairman and the Board 
promote a strong governance and ethical culture 
which in turn used to portray and promote the 
Group’s business and other dealings with identified 
stake holders across all jurisdictions that the Group 
operates. A large part of the Companyʼs activities 
are centred upon what needs to be an open and 
respectful dialogue with employees, clients and 
other stakeholders. 
 
The Company has adopted, with effect from the 
date on which its shares were admitted to AIM, a 
code for Directors’ and employees’ dealings in 
securities which is appropriate for a company 
whose securities are traded on AIM and is in 
accordance with AIM Rule 21 the requirements of 
the Market Abuse Regulation which came into 
effect in 2016. 
 
In view of the current position of the Company and 
that there is no formal workplace and only two part 
time employees the board has taken such steps as 
it considers appropriate to establish a transparent 
and accountable corporate culture. 
The Board has also established a number of 
appropriate policies such as Anti-bribery and 
Corruption and a social media policy. 
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statements issued by the 
company. 

 
 

The Company uses the QCA guidelines as a guiding 
principle in promoting an ethical and open 
environment. 
 

9.  Principle 9 
 
Maintain governance structures 
and processes that are fit for 
purpose and support good 
decision-making by the board 
 
 The company should maintain 

governance structures and 
processes in line with its 
corporate culture and 
appropriate to its: 

o size and complexity; and  
o capacity, appetite and 

tolerance for risk. 
 The governance structures 

should evolve over time in 
parallel with its objectives, 
strategy and business model to 
reflect the development of the 
company. 

 
 
 

The Board’s corporate governance policies helps 
ensure that there are appropriate reporting 
systems and controls in place to assure the Board 
that proper operational, financial, compliance, and 
internal control processes are in place and 
functioning appropriately.  
 
The Executive Chairman, Mr John W Barr, is 
responsible for the governance and oversight of the 
Companies operation, and Technical Director Mr 
Andy Carroll plays an active role in the business 
taking on management and operational 
responsibilities. 
 
Independent Non-Executive Director, Mr John 
Young, acts as a relevant non-executive member of 
the Board to enhance the governance structure of 
the Board and provide an increased level of 
independent review of Board decisions and 
strategy. 
 
All Directors receive regular and timely information 
on the Group’s operational and financial 
performance. Relevant information is circulated to 
the Directors in advance of meetings. The business 
reports monthly on its headline performance 
against its agreed budget, and the Board reviews 
the monthly update on performance and any 
significant variances are reviewed at each meeting.  
 
The Board is supported by the audit and 
remuneration committees. The audit committee 
determines the application of financial reporting 
and internal control principles, including reviewing 
the effectiveness of the Group’s financial reporting, 
internal control and risk management procedures 
and the scope, quality and results of the external 
audit. The remuneration committee reviews the 
performance of the executive directors and sets 
their remuneration, determines the payment of 
bonuses to executive directors and consider bonus 
and option schemes. Each of the executive 
directors will take no part in discussions concerning 
their remuneration. The remuneration of all 
directors will be reviewed by the board. 
 
Each committee has access to such resources, 
information and advice as it deems necessary, at 
the cost of the Company, to enable the committee 
to discharge its duties. The terms of reference of 
each committee are available at the Company’s 
website:  
 
https://mosmanoilandgas.com/corporate-
governance 
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These processes are regularly implemented at the 
Meetings of Directors as set out in the Directors’ 
Report and are updated as necessary based on:  
  

o Corporate Culture;  
o Size;  
o The capacity and appetite for risk and the 

tolerances of the company; and  
o Business complexity. 

 
The Company’s annual report includes published 
reports from the Company’s audit and 
remuneration committees setting out particular 
matters of relevance that have arisen during the 
reporting period. 
 

10.  Principle 10 
 
Communicate how the company 
is governed and is performing by 
maintaining a dialogue with 
shareholders and other relevant 
stakeholders 
 
 A healthy dialogue should exist 

between the board and all of its 
stakeholders, including 
shareholders, to enable all 
interested parties to come to 
informed decisions about the 
company. 

 In particular, appropriate 
communication and reporting 
structures should exist between 
the board and all constituent 
parts of its shareholder base. 
This will assist: 

o the communication of 
shareholders’ views to 
the board; and 

o the shareholders’ 
understanding of the 
unique circumstances 
and constraints faced by 
the company. 

 It should be clear where these 
communication practices are 
described (annual report or 
website). 
 
 

The Company communicates with shareholders 
through the Annual Report and Accounts, full-year 
and half-year announcements, the Annual General 
Meeting (AGM) and one-to-one meetings with large 
existing or potential new shareholders.  
 
A range of corporate information (including all 
Company announcements and presentations) is 
also available to shareholders, investors and the 
public on the Company’s corporate website  
 
http://mosmanoilandgas.com 
 
The Annual Report details the work of the Board, 
Management and various committees that are 
utilised throughout the year. 
 
The outcome of each vote in the AGM is always 
reported to shareholders and released as an RNS 
on the market announcements platform. It can also 
be obtained on the company’s website. 
 
  

Other Consider relationship agreement 
where there is a dominant 
shareholder 

N/A 
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Setting out the Vision and Strategy 

The Board should express a shared view of the Company’s vision and strategy. 

For details on the Company’s objectives, please refer to the Company’s website 
(http://mosmanoilandgas.com/company-overview.) 
 
Managing and Communication Risk and Implementing Internal Control 

The Board is responsible for putting in place and communicating a sound system to manage risk and 
implement. 
 
Management determines the Company’s risk profile and is responsible for overseeing and approving risk 
management strategy and policies, internal compliance and internal control. The Company’s process of 
risk management and internal compliance and control includes: 
 
(a) establishing the Company’s goals and objectives, and implementing and monitoring strategies 

and policies to achieve these goals and objectives; 

(b) continuously identifying and reacting to risks that might impact upon the achievement of the 
Company’s goals and objectives, and monitoring the environment for emerging factors and trends 
that affect these risks; 

(c) formulating risk management strategies to manage identified risks and designing and 
implementing appropriate risk management policies and internal controls; and 

(d) monitoring the performance of, and continuously improving the effectiveness of, risk management 
systems and internal compliance and controls, including an ongoing assessment of the 
effectiveness of risk management and internal compliance and control. 

 
Within the identified risk profile of the Company, comprehensive practices are in place that are directed 
towards achieving the following objectives: 
 
(a) effectiveness and efficiency in the use of the Company’s resources; 

(b) compliance with applicable laws and regulations; and 

(c) preparation of reliable published financial information. 

 
The Board oversees an ongoing assessment of the effectiveness of risk management and internal 
compliance and control. 
 
The responsibility for undertaking and assessing risk management and internal control effectiveness is 
delegated to management. Management is required by the Board to report back on the efficiency and 
effectiveness of risk management, inter alia, by benchmarking the Company’s performance against 
industry standards. 
 
The risk profile of the Company contains both financial and non-financial factors including material risks 
arising from pricing, competitive position, currency movements, operational efficiency, fuel prices, 
ground water flows, reserve recovery, investments in new projects.  
 
To mitigate these risks, the Company has in place a broad range of risk management policies and 
procedures including specialised sales contracts, competent management in all disciplines, a 
comprehensive management information system, an experienced Board, regular Board meetings, 
financial and internal audits, rigorous appraisal of new investments, advisers familiar with the Company 
and an internal audit function. 
 
Management is responsible for the ongoing management of risk with standing instructions to appraise 
the Board of changing circumstances within the Company and within the international business 
environment. 
 
This policy is reviewed every two years. 
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Articulating Strategy through Corporate Communication and Investor Relations 
 
A healthy dialogue should exist between the board and shareholders to enable shareholders to come to 
informed disclosures decisions about the company. 
 
The Company recognises the value of providing current and relevant information to its shareholders. 
The CEO and Company Secretary have the primary responsibility for communication with shareholders. 
 
Information is communicated to shareholders through: 
 
(a) continuous disclosure to relevant stock markets of all material information; 

(b) periodic disclosure through the annual report (or concise annual report), half year financial report 
and periodic reporting of exploration, production and corporate activities (if required); 

(c) notices of meetings and explanatory material; 

(d) the annual general meeting; 

(e) periodic newsletters or letters from the Chairman or CEO; and 

(f) the Company’s website. 

 
The Company is committed to the promotion of investor confidence by ensuring that trading in the 
Company’s securities takes place in an efficient, competitive and informed market. 
 
Meeting the Needs and Objectives of Shareholders 
 
Directors should develop a good understanding of the needs and expectations of the Company’s 
shareholders, as well as the motivations behind shareholder voting decisions. 
 
The Company always strives to maintain an open line of communication with Shareholders. A detailed 
corporate directory, directory of Directors and Management, as well and current and historical notices 
to shareholders are available on the Company’s website. 
 
Annual General Meeting  
 
The Company recognises the rights of shareholders and encourages the effective exercise of those 
rights through the following means: 
 
(a) notices of meetings are distributed to shareholders in accordance with the provisions of the 

Corporations Act; 

(b) notices of meetings and other meeting material are drafted in concise and clear language; 

(c) shareholders are encouraged to use their attendance at meetings to ask questions on any relevant 
matter, with time being specifically set aside for shareholder questions; 

(d) notices of meetings encourage participation in voting on proposed resolutions by lodgement of 
proxies, if shareholders are unable to attend the meeting; 

(e) it is general practice for a presentation on the Company’s activities to be made to shareholders 
at each annual general meeting; and 

(f) it is both the Company’s policy and the policy of the Company’s auditor for the lead engagement 
partner to be present at the annual general meeting and to answer any questions regarding the 
conduct of the audit and the preparation and content of the auditor’s report. 

This policy is reviewed annually. 
 
Meeting Stakeholder and Social Responsibilities 
 
Good governance includes the Board considering the Company’s impact on society, the community and 
the environment. 
 
The Board recognises that the primary stakeholders in the Company are its shareholders. Other 
legitimate stakeholders in the Company include employees, potential customers and the general 
community.  
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The Company’s primary objective is to create shareholder wealth through capital growth and dividends 
by the continued development and commercialisation of its assets. 
 
The Company is committed to conducting all its operations in a manner which: 
 
(a) protects the health and safety of all Employees, contractors and community members; 

(b) recognises, values and rewards the individual contribution of each employee; 

(c) achieves a balance between economic development, maintenance of the environment and social 
responsibility; 

(d) maintains good relationships with suppliers and the local community; and 

(e) is honest, lawful and moral. 

All employees (including directors) are expected to act with the utmost integrity and objectivity, striving 
always to enhance the reputation and performance of the Company. 
 
This policy is reviewed annually. 
 
Using Cost Effective and Value-Added Arrangements 
 
The Board periodically reviews its corporate governance policies to ensure its governance arrangements 
allows for clear and efficient decision-making processes. 
 
The risk management processes outlined above highlight the key risks faced by the Company and 
facilitates a clear understanding of how value is enhanced, and abuses prevented, through the 
governance policies and processes. 
 
Developing Structures and Processes 
 
The Board’s corporate governance policies helps ensure that there are appropriate reporting systems 
and controls in place to assure the Board that proper operational, financial, compliance, and internal 
control processes are in place and functioning appropriately. 
 
These processes are regularly implemented at the Meetings of Directors as set out in the Directors’ 
Report and are updated as necessary based on: 
 
 Corporate Culture; 
 Size; 
 The capacity and appetite for risk and the tolerances of the Company; and 
 Business complexity. 
 
Being Responsible and Accountable 
 
Responsibility for corporate governance lies with the Chairman and the Board has a collective 
responsibility and legal obligation to promote the long-term success of the Company. 
 
Role of the Board and Management 
The Board's primary role is the protection and enhancement of medium to long term shareholder value.  
To fulfil this role, the Board is responsible for the overall Corporate Governance of the Company including  
its strategic direction, establishing goals for management and monitoring the achievement of these 
goals.   
 
The Board has sole responsibility for the following: 
 
 Appointing and removing executive directors and approving their remuneration; 
 Appointing and removing the Company Secretary and approving their remuneration;  
 Determining the strategic direction of the Company and measuring performance of management 

against approved strategies; 
 Reviewing the adequacy of resources for management to properly carry out approved strategies and 

business plans;  
 Adopting operating and capital expenditure budgets at the commencement of each financial period 

and monitoring the progress by both financial and non-financial key performance indicators; 
 Monitoring the Company’s medium term capital and cash flow requirements; 
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 Approving and monitoring financial and other reporting to regulatory bodies, shareholders and other 

organisations; 
 Determining that satisfactory arrangements are in place for auditing the Company’s financial affairs; 
 Reviewing and ratifying systems of risk management and internal compliance and control, codes of 

conduct and compliance with legislative requirements; and 
 Ensuring that policies and compliance systems consistent with the Company’s objectives and best 

practice are in place and that the Company and its officers act legally, ethically and responsibly on all 
matters. 

 
The Board’s role and the Company’s corporate governance practices are being continually reviewed and 
improved as the Company’s business develops. 
 
Having Balance on the Board 
 
The Board consists of two Executive Directors, being Mr John W Barr, the Executive Chairman, and Mr 
Andrew Carroll, the Technical Director, and one Non-Executive Director being Mr John A Young. Major 
corporate decisions of the Company are subject to Board approval. 
 
The Company’s Constitution provides that the number of Directors shall not be less than three and not 
more than ten. There is no requirement for any shareholding qualification. 
 
The Board considers that Mr Young is an Independent Director of the Company. 
 
The Company notes that the role of the Chair being discharged by an Executive Director is not in line 
with QCA guidance however is considered appropriate given Mosman’s relative early stage of 
development. The Board does keep this role and compliance with QCA guidelines under close review 
and the appointment of future potential non-executives, however none have been identified.  
 
Having Appropriate Skills and Capabilities on the Board 
 
Details of the Directors, including their qualifications, experience and date of appointment are set out 
in the Directors’ Report. 
 
An audit committee, comprising Mr Barr and Mr Young has been established to operate with effect from 
Admission. The audit committee will determine the application of financial reporting and internal control 
principles, including reviewing the effectiveness of the Group’s financial reporting, internal control and 
risk management procedures and the scope, quality and results of the external audit. The audit 
committee will be chaired by Mr Barr. 
 
At Admission, the Board established a Remuneration Committee responsible for making 
recommendations to the Board on remuneration arrangements for Directors and executives of the 
Company. It will review the performance of the Executive Directors and will set their remuneration, 
determine the payment of bonuses to Executive Directors and consider bonus and option schemes. Each 
of the Executive Directors will take no part in discussions concerning their own remuneration. The 
remuneration of all Directors will be reviewed by the Board. The remuneration committee will be chaired 
by Mr Young. 
 
Evaluation Board Performance and Development 
 
As part of the annual review of the performance of the Board, the appropriate size, composition and 
terms and conditions of appointment to and retirement from the Board are considered. The level of 
remuneration for non-executive directors is considered with regards to practices of other public 
companies and the aggregate amount of fees approved by shareholders. The Board also reviews the 
appropriate criteria for Board membership collectively. 
 
The Board has established formal processes to review its own performance and the performance of 
individual directors and the committees of the Board, annually. 
 
Board 
A process has been established to annually review and evaluate the performance of the Board. The 
annual review includes consideration of the following measures: 
 
(a) comparison of the performance of the Board against the requirements of the Board charter; 
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(b) assessment of the performance of the Board over the previous twelve months having regard to 
the corporate strategies, operating plans and the annual budget; 

(c) review the Board’s interaction with management; 

(d) identification of goals and objectives of the Board for the next year; 

(e) review the type and timing of information provided to the directors; and 

(f) identification of any necessary or desirable improvements to Board or committee charters. 

The method and scope of the performance evaluation will be set by the Board and which may include a 
Board self-assessment checklist to be completed by each director. The Board may also use an 
independent adviser to assist in the review. 
 
Committees  
Similar procedures to those for the Board review are applied to evaluate the performance of each of the 
Board committees. 
 
An assessment will be made of the performance of each committee against each charter and areas 
identified where improvements can be made. 
 
Non-Executive Directors  
The Chairman will have primary responsibility for conducting performance appraisals of Non-Executive 
Directors in conjunction with them, having regard to: 
 
(a) contribution to Board discussion and function; 

(b) degree of independence including relevance of any conflicts of interest; 

(c) availability for and attendance at Board meetings and other relevant events; 

(d) contribution to Company strategy; 

(e) membership of and contribution to any Board committees; and 

(f) suitability to Board structure and composition. 

Where the Chairman, following a performance appraisal, considers that action must be taken in relation 
to a Director’s performance, the Chairman must consult with the remainder of the Board regarding 
whether a Director should be counselled to resign, not seek re-election, or in exceptional circumstances, 
whether a resolution for the removal of a Director be put to shareholders. 
 
Senior Executives  
The Executive Chairman is responsible for assessing the performance of the key executives within the 
Company. This is to be performed through a formal process involving a formal meeting with each 
senior executive. The basis of evaluation of senior executives will be on agreed performance 
measures. 
 
This policy is reviewed annually. 
 
Providing Information and Support 
 
Each director has the right to seek independent professional advice on matters relating to their position 
as a Director of the Company at the Company’s expense, subject to the prior approval of the Chairman, 
which shall not be unreasonably withheld. 
 
Non-Executive Directors are provided with access to all information they require and are authorised to 
engage external advisors as necessary. There was no such requirement for external advisors in FY19. 
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Nominated Advisor  
 
In accordance with the AIM Rules for Companies, SP Angel Corporate Finance LLP has been appointed 
to advise the Board as its Nominated Advisor.  A Nominated Advisor’s responsibility is to the Exchange 
for assessing the appropriateness of an applicant for AIM, or an existing AIM company when appointed 
its Nominated Adviser, and for advising and guiding an AIM company on its responsibilities under the 
AIM Rules for Companies. 
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Audit Committee Report 
 
An important part of the role of the Audit Committee is its responsibility for reviewing the effectiveness 
of the Group’s financial reporting, internal control policies, and procedures for the identification, 
assessment and reporting of risk. The latter two areas are integral to the Group’s core management 
processes and the Committee devotes significant time to their review.  
 
One of the key governance requirements of the Group’s financial statements is for the report and 
accounts to be fair, balanced and understandable. The co-ordination and review of the Group-wide input 
into the Annual Report and Accounts is a sizeable exercise performed within an exacting time frame. It 
runs alongside the formal audit process undertaken by external Auditors and is designed to arrive at a 
position where initially the Audit Committee, and then the Board, is satisfied with the overall fairness, 
balance and clarity of the document is underpinned by the following: 
 

 detailed guidance issued to contributors at operational levels; 
 a verification process dealing with the factual content of the reports; 
 thorough review undertaken at different levels that aim to ensure consistency and overall 

balance; and 
 comprehensive review by the senior management team. 

 
The Audit Committee has also sought to remove any duplication and has sequenced information in as 
logical a manner as possible without compromising compliance with UK regulatory and accounting 
requirements. 
 
An essential part of the integrity of the financial statements are the key assumptions and estimates or 
judgments that must be made. The Committee reviews key judgments prior to publication of the 
financial statements at the full and half year, as well as considering significant issues throughout the 
year. This includes reviewing any materially subjective assumptions within the Group’s activities to 
enable an appropriate determination of asset valuation and provisioning. The Committee reviewed and 
was satisfied that the judgments exercised by management on material items contained within the 
Annual Report were reasonable. 
 
Additionally, the Committee also considered management’s assessment of going concern with respect 
to the Group’s cash position and its commitments for the next 12 months. In this respect, the Committee 
refers to the Going concern section in the Directors’ Report. 
 
The Audit Committee has considered the Group’s internal control and risk management policies and 
systems, their effectiveness and the requirements for an internal audit function in the context of the 
Group’s overall risk management system. The Committee is satisfied that the Group does not currently 
require an internal audit function. 

 
John W Barr 
Chairman of the Audit Committee 
31 October 2019 
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Audit Committee Members 
 
This committee comprises: 
 

 John W Barr (Chairman)  
 John A Young 

 
Summary of responsibilities of the Audit Committee 
 

 Reviewing the effectiveness of the Group’s financial reporting, internal control policies and 
procedures for the identification, assessment and reporting of risk; 

 monitoring the integrity of the Group’s financial statements; 
 monitoring the effectiveness of the internal control environment; 
 making recommendations to the Board on the appointment of the Auditors; 
 agreeing the scope of the Auditors’ annual audit programme and reviewing the output; 
 keeping the relationship with the Auditors under review; 
 assessing the effectiveness of the audit process; and 
 developing and implementing policy on the engagement of the Auditors to supply non-audit 

services. 
 
The external Auditors have unrestricted access to the Chairman of the Audit Committee. Audit 
Committee meetings are also attended by the external Auditor where appropriate and, by invitation, the 
Chairman and any other Directors and senior management. 
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Remuneration Committee Report 
 
The Remuneration Committee (“Committee”) convened once during the year and has been engaged on 
all matters of corporate remuneration. Over the past year, the Committee has considered the following 
matters: 
 

 Director remuneration; and 
 Consultancy status and terms for individuals serving the group on a non-exclusive basis. 

 
Given Mosman’s focus on capital-required new project acquisitions subsequent to balance date, it was 
decided that no bonus should be paid in cash to employees or Directors despite their significant efforts 
during the year. 
 
Directors, employees and certain consultants are only eligible to participate in the Group bonus or 
equity incentive schemes at the absolute discretion of the Board, with recommendations from the 
Remuneration Committee. There is no formal bonus scheme in place and it is the policy of the 
Remuneration Committee that any material bonus be put to shareholders for formal ratification and 
approval. 
 
The Committee, when reviewing base remuneration, consider matters of retention, motivation, the 
economic climate, and the challenges facing the business and the wider sector; they also consider 
appropriate industry benchmarks. The annual remuneration levels for the executive Director is noted 
in the Directors’ report. 
 
John Young 
Chairman of the Remuneration Committee 
31 October 2019 
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Remuneration Committee Members 
 
This committee comprises: 
 

 John A Young (Chairman) 
 Andrew R Carroll 

 
Summary of responsibilities of the Remuneration Committee 
 

 Agreeing a policy for the remuneration of the Chairman, Executive Directors, Non-Executive 
Directors and other senior executives; 

 Within the agreed policy, determining individual remuneration packages for the Chairman, 
Executive Directors, Non-Executive Directors and other senior executives; 

 Agreeing the policy on terms and conditions to be included in service agreements for the 
Chairman, Executive Directors, Non-Executive Directors and other senior executives, including 
termination payments and compensation commitments, where applicable; and 

 Approving any employee incentive schemes and the performance conditions to be used for 
such schemes including share performance targets. 
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Performance 
Year Ended 30 June 2019 
All amounts are in Australian Dollars 
 
    
 Notes Consolidated 

2019 
$ 

Consolidated 
2018 

$ 
    
Revenue  1,106,095 740,853 
Cost of sales 2 (821,000) (483,975) 
Gross profit  285,095 256,878 
    
Interest income  39,715 8,112 
Other income  43,320 25,628 
    
Administrative expenses  (180,688) (166,518) 
Corporate expenses 3 (771,506) (793,546) 
Directors fees  (120,000) (120,000) 
Exploration expenses incurred, not 
capitalised  (8,125) - 
Employee benefits expense  (69,392) (93,189) 
Evaluation and due diligence  (162,447) (239,522) 
Finance costs  (2,250) - 
Loss on foreign exchange  (3,953) - 
Loss on sale of joint venture assets  (156,105) - 
Loss on sale of FVOCI assets  - (76,443) 
Amortisation expense  (82,958) (22,448) 
Depreciation expense  (5,765) (10,005) 

Cost of abandoned projects 4 (13,777) - 
Pre-acquisition costs  - (44,775) 
Capitalised costs written off 14 - (2,752,115) 
Share of net (loss)/profit from joint 
operation  - (33,721) 
Share based payments  - (40,567) 
Loss from ordinary activities before 
income tax expense 

 
 (1,208,836) (4,102,231) 

    
Income tax expense  6 - - 
    
Net loss for the year  (1,208,836) (4,102,231) 
    
Other comprehensive loss    
Items that may be reclassified to profit 
or loss:    

- 

Loss on financial assets at fair value 
through other comprehensive 
income (FVOCI)  5 - (186,618) 

- Foreign currency gain  5 109,977 140,974 
Total comprehensive income 
attributable to members of the 
entity  (1,098,859) (4,147,875) 

    
Basic loss per share (cents per share) 24 (0.20) cents (1.33) cents 
Diluted loss per share (cents per share) 24 (0.20) cents (1.33) cents 

 
The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.  
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position 
As at 30 June 2019 
All amounts are in Australian Dollars 
 
 

 

Notes Consolidated 
30 June 2019 

Consolidated 
30 June 2018 

 
  $ $ 
    
Current Assets    
Cash and cash equivalents 8 823,959 1,323,084 
Trade and other receivables 9 330,160 161,814 
Inventory  77,961 106,633 
Other assets   10 35,756 5,944 
Total Current Assets  1,267,836 1,597,475  
    
Non-Current Assets    
Property, plant & equipment 12 14,034 19,799 
Oil and gas assets 13 3,905,106 2,592,814 
Loans receivable 11 337,201 276,999 
Other receivables  50,000 50,000 
Capitalised oil and gas exploration  14 1,615,956 1,491,019 
Total Non-Current Assets  5,922,297 4,430,631 

    
Total Assets  7,190,133 6,028,106  
    
Current Liabilities    
Trade and other payables 15 569,234 436,586 
Provisions 16 27,170 19,000 
Total Current Liabilities  596,404 455,586  
    
    
Total Liabilities  596,404 455,586  
    
Net Assets  6,593,729 5,572,520  

    
Shareholders’ Equity    
Contributed equity 17 30,164,872 28,044,804 
Reserves 18 530,837 420,860 
Accumulated losses 19 (24,101,980) (22,921,464) 
Equity attributable to shareholders  6,593,729 5,606,241 
Non-controlling interest  - 28,320 
    
Total Shareholders’ Equity  6,593,729 5,572,520  

    
 
The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements. 
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity  
Year Ended 30 June 2019 
All amounts are in Australian Dollars 
 

Accumulated 
Losses 

Contributed 
Equity 

Reserves Non-
Controlling 

Interest 

Total 

 $ $ $ $ $ 
      
Balance at 1 July 2018 (22,921,464) 28,044,804 420,860 28,320 5,572,520 
      
Comprehensive income      
Loss for the period (1,180,516) - - (28,320) (1,208,836) 
Other comprehensive loss 
for the period 

- - 109,977 - 109,977 

Total comprehensive 
loss for the period (1,180,516) - 109,977 (28,320) (1,098,859) 
      

Transactions with owners, in their capacity as owners, and other transfers:  

New shares issued - 2,266,306 - - 2,266,306 

Cost of raising equity - (146,238) - - (146,238) 

Options issued - - - - - 

Reallocation of ARR 
reserve - - - - - 

Total transactions with 
owners and other transfers - 2,120,068 - - 2,120,068 

Balance at 30 June 2019 (24,101,980) 30,164,872 530,837 - 6,593,729 

      

Balance at 1 July 2017 (19,499,941) 25,286,313 1,058,126 62,041 6,906,539 

      

Comprehensive income      

Loss for the year (4,068,510) - - (33,721) (4,102,231) 

Other comprehensive 
income for the period - - (45,644) - (45,644) 

Total comprehensive 
loss for the period (4,068,510) - (45,644) (33,721) (4,147,875) 

      

Transactions with owners, in their capacity as owners, and other transfers:  

New shares issued - 2,967,331 - - 2,967,331 

Cost of raising equity - (208,840) - - (208,840) 

Options issued - - 55,365 - 55,365 

Options expired 646,987 - (646,987) - - 

Total transactions with 
owners and other transfers 646,987 2,758,491 (591,622) - 2,813,856 

Balance at 30 June 2018 (22,921,464) 28,044,804 420,860 28,320 5,572,520 

      
 
 
These accompanying notes form part of these financial statements  
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows 
Year Ended 30 June 2019 
All amounts are in Australian Dollars 
 
 
 Notes Consolidated 2019 Consolidated 2018 
  $ $ 
    
Cash flows from operating activities    
Receipts from customers  1,134,767 793,579 
Interest received & other income  83,034 33,739 
Payments to suppliers and employees  (2,166,978) (1,421,822) 
Bonds refunded  71,807 67,043 
Interest paid  (2,249) - 
Net cash outflow from operating 
activities 25 (879,619) (527,461) 
    
Cash flows from investing activities    
Sale of property, plant & equipment  - 180,849 
Proceeds from sale of joint venture assets   106,944  
Payments for oil and gas assets  (777,586) (599,515) 
Payments for exploration and evaluation  (124,937) (545,013) 
Deposit paid for acquisition  (641) - 
Acquisition of oil and gas production 
projects  (883,151) (1,323,357) 
Net cash outflow from investing 
activities  (1,679,371) (2,287,036) 
 
Cash flows from financing activities    
Proceeds from shares issued  2,266,306 2,982,130 
Payments for costs of capital  (146,238) (208,840) 
Transactions with non-controlling interests  - (33,721) 
Loans to third parties  (60,201) (264,571) 
Net cash inflow from financial 
activities  2,059,867 2,474,998 
    
Net decrease in cash and cash 
equivalents  (499,123) (339,499) 
Effects of exchange rate changes on cash 
and cash equivalents   (2) (3,556) 
Cash and cash equivalents at the 
beginning of the financial year  1,323,084 1,666,139 
Cash and cash equivalents at the end 
of the financial year 

 
8 823,959 1,323,084 

    
 
The accompanying notes from part of these financial statements 
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Notes to the Financial Statements 
Year Ended 30 June 2019 
All amounts are Australian Dollars 
 
1 Statement of Accounting Policies  
 
The principal accounting policies adopted in preparing the financial report of Mosman Oil and Gas Limited 
(or “the Company’’) and Controlled Entities (“Consolidated entity” or “Group”), are stated to assist in a 
general understanding of the financial report. These policies have been consistently applied to all the 
years presented, unless otherwise indicated.  
 
Mosman Oil and Gas Limited is a Company limited by shares incorporated and domiciled in Australia.  
 
(a) Basis of Preparation  
 
This general purpose financial report has been prepared in accordance with Australian Accounting 
Standards (including Australian Interpretations) adopted by the Australian Accounting Standards Board 
and the Corporations Act 2001. Compliance with Australian Accounting Standards ensures that the 
financial statements also comply with International Financial Reporting Standards. 
 
The financial report has been prepared on the basis of historical costs and does not take into account 
changing money values or, except where stated, current valuations of non-current assets. 
 
Going Concern 

The Group recognises that its ability to continue as a going concern to meet its debts when they fall 
due is dependent on the Group raising funds as required to pay its debts as and when they fall due. 
The directors have reviewed the business outlook and are of the opinion that the use of the going 
concern basis of accounting is appropriate as they believe the Group will achieve this.  

However, the conditions outlined above create uncertainty that may cast significant doubt as to whether 
the Group will continue as a going concern and, therefore whether the Group will realise its assets and 
extinguish its liabilities in the normal course of business and at the amounts stated in these financial 
statements. This financial report does not include any adjustments relating to the recoverability and 
classification of recorded asset amounts nor to the amounts and classification of liabilities that may be 
necessary should the Group be unable to continue as a going concern. 
 
The financial report was authorised for issue by the Directors on 31 October 2019. 

 
(b) Principles of Consolidation and Equity Accounting 
 
The consolidated financial statements incorporate the assets, liabilities and results of entities controlled 
by Mosman Oil and Gas Limited at the end of the reporting period.  A controlled entity is any entity over 
which Mosman Oil and Gas Limited has the ability and right to govern the financial and operating policies 
so as to obtain benefits from the entity’s activities. 

Where controlled entities have entered or left the Group during the year, the financial performance of 
those entities is included only for the period of the year that they were controlled.  Details of Controlled 
and Associated entities are contained in Notes 29 and 30 to the financial statements. 

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, all inter-group balances and transactions between 
entities in the consolidated group have been eliminated in full on consolidation.  

Under AASB 11 Joint Arrangements, investments in joint arrangements are classified as either joint 
operations or joint ventures. The classification depends on the contractual rights and obligations of each 
investor, rather than the legal structure of the joint arrangement. Mosman Oil and Gas Limited has a 
joint venture. 
 
Joint ventures 
 
Joint operations represent arrangements whereby joint operators maintain direct interests in each asset 
and exposure to each liability of the arrangement. The Group’s interests in the assets, liabilities, revenue 
and expenses of joint operations are included in the respective line items of the financial statements. 
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Interests in joint ventures are accounted for using the equity method (see below), after initially being 
recognised at cost in the consolidated balance sheet. 
 
Equity method 
 
Under the equity method of accounting, the investments are initially recognised at cost and adjusted 
thereafter to recognise the group’s share of the post-acquisition profits or losses of the investee in profit 
or loss, and the group’s share of movements in other comprehensive income of the investee in other 
comprehensive income. Dividends received or receivable from associates and joint ventures are 
recognised as a reduction in the carrying amount of the investment. 
 
When the group’s share of losses in an equity-accounted investment equals or exceeds its interest in 
the entity, including any other unsecured long-term receivables, the group does not recognise further 
losses, unless it has incurred obligations or made payments on behalf of the other entity. 
 
Unrealised gains on transactions between the group and its associates and joint ventures are eliminated 
to the extent of the group’s interest in these entities. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the 
transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred. Accounting policies of equity 
accounted investees have been changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies 
adopted by the group. 
 
The carrying amount of equity-accounted investments is tested for impairment in accordance with the 
policy described in note 1(q). 
 
(c) Use of Estimates and Judgements 
 
The preparation of financial statements requires management to make judgements, estimates and 
assumptions that affect the application of accounting policies and reported amounts of assets and 
liabilities, income and expenses.  Actual results may differ from these estimates.  Estimates and 
underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis.  Revisions to accounting estimates are 
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised and in any future periods affected. 
 
Critical Accounting Estimates and Judgements 
 
Impairment of Exploration and Evaluation Assets  
 
The ultimate recoupment of the value of exploration and evaluation assets, is dependent on the 
successful development and commercial exploitation, or alternatively, sale, of the exploration and 
evaluation assets.  

 
Impairment tests are carried out when there are indicators of impairment in order to identify whether 
the asset carrying values exceed their recoverable amounts. There is significant estimation and 
judgement in determining the inputs and assumptions used in determining the recoverable amounts.  

 
The key areas of judgement and estimation include:  

 
 Recent exploration and evaluation results and resource estimates;  
 Environmental issues that may impact on the underlying tenements;  
 Fundamental economic factors that have an impact on the operations and carrying values 

of assets and liabilities.  
 

Taxation 
 
Balances disclosed in the financial statements and the notes related to taxation, are based on the best 
estimates of directors and take into account the financial performance and position of the Group as they 
pertain to current income tax legislation, and the directors understanding thereof.  No adjustment has 
been made for pending or future taxation legislation.  The current tax position represents the best 
estimate, pending assessment by the tax authorities. 

Exploration and Evaluation Assets 
 
The accounting policy for exploration and evaluation expenditure results in expenditure being capitalised 
for an area of interest where it is considered likely to be recoverable by future exploitation or sale or  
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where the activities have not reached a stage which permits a reasonable assessment of the existence 
of reserves.   
 
This policy requires management to make certain estimates as to future events and circumstances. Any 
such estimates and assumptions may change as new information becomes available.  If, after having 
capitalised the expenditure under the policy, a judgement is made that the recovery of the expenditure 
is unlikely, the relevant capitalised amount will be written off to profit and loss. 
 
(d) Income Tax 
 
Current tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior periods are measured at the amount expected 
to be recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities.  The tax rates and tax laws used to compute 
the amounts are those that are enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date. 
 
Deferred income tax is provided on all temporary differences at the balance sheet date between the tax 
bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes. 
 
Deferred income tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary differences. 
 
Deferred income tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences, carry-forward of 
unused tax assets and unused tax losses, to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be 
available against which the deductible temporary differences and the carry-forward of unused tax credits 
and unused tax losses can be utilised; 
 
The carrying amount of deferred income tax assets is reviewed at each balance sheet date reduced to 
the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part 
of the deferred income tax asset to be utilised. 
 
Unrecognised deferred income tax assets are reassessed at each balance sheet date and are recognised 
to the extent that it has become probable that future taxable profit will allow the deferred tax asset to 
be recovered. 
 
Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to 
the period when the asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that 
have been enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date. 
 
Income taxes relating to items recognised directly in equity are recognised in equity and not in the 
income statement. 
 
Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset only if a legally enforceable right exists to set 
off current tax liabilities and the deferred tax assets and liabilities relate to the same taxable entity and 
the same taxation authority. 
 
(e) Goods and Services Tax 
 
Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of GST except: 
 

(i) Where the GST incurred on a purchase of goods and services is not recoverable from the 
taxation authority, in which case the GST is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of 
the asset, or as part of the expense item as applicable;  

 
(ii) Receivables and payables are stated with the amount of GST included; 

 
(iii) The net amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is included as 

part of receivables or payables in the Statement of Financial Position;  
  

(iv) Cash flows are included in the Statement of Cash Flows on a gross basis and the GST 
component of cash flows arising from investing and financing activities, which is recoverable 
from, or payable to, the taxation authority, are classified as operating cash flows; and 

 
(v) Commitments and contingencies are disclosed net of the amount of GST recoverable from, 

or payable to, the taxation authority. 
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(f) Property, Plant and Equipment 
 
Plant and equipment are measured on the cost basis and therefore carried at cost less accumulated 
depreciation and any accumulated impairment.  In the event the carrying amount of plant and 
equipment is greater than the estimated recoverable amount, the carrying amount is written down 
immediately to the estimated recoverable amount and impairment losses are recognised either in profit 
or loss, or as a revaluation decrease if the impairment losses relate to a revalued asset.  A formal 
assessment of recoverable amount is made when impairment indicators are present (refer to Note 1(q) 
for details of impairment). 
 
The carrying amount of plant and equipment is reviewed annually by directors to ensure it is not in 
excess of the recoverable amount from these assets. The recoverable amount is assessed on the basis 
of the expected net cash flows that will be received from the asset’s employment and subsequent 
disposal. The expected net cash flows have been discounted to their present values in determining 
recoverable amounts. 
 
(g) Depreciation 

 
The depreciable amount of all fixed assets is depreciated on a straight-line basis over the asset’s useful 
life to the consolidated group commencing from the time the asset is held ready for use. Leasehold 
improvements are depreciated over the shorter of either the unexpired period of the lease or the 
estimated useful lives of the improvements. 

 
(h) Exploration and Evaluation Assets 
 
Mineral exploration and evaluation expenditure incurred is accumulated in respect of each identifiable 
area of interest and is subject to impairment testing.  These costs are carried forward only if they relate 
to an area of interest for which rights of tenure are current and in respect of which: 

 
 Such costs are expected to be recouped through the successful development and exploitation 

of the area of interest, or alternatively by its sale; or  
 Exploration and/or evaluation activities in the area have not reached a stage which permits a 

reasonable assessment of the existence, or otherwise, of economically recoverable reserves and 
active or significant operations in, or in relation to, the area of interest is continuing. 

 
In the event that an area of interest is abandoned accumulated costs carried forward are written off in 
the year in which that assessment is made.  A regular review is undertaken of each area of interest to 
determine the appropriateness of continuing to carry forward costs in relation to that area of interest. 
 
Where a resource has been identified and where it is expected that future expenditures will be recovered 
by future exploitation or sale, the impairment of the exploration and evaluation is written back and 
transferred to development costs.  Once production commences, the accumulated costs for the relevant 
area of interest are amortised over the life of the area according to the rate of depletion of the 
economically recoverable reserves. 
 
Costs of site restoration and rehabilitation are recognised when the Company has a present obligation, 
the future sacrifice of economic benefits is probable, and the amount of the provision can be reliably 
estimated. 
 
The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration required to settle the 
present obligation at the reporting date, taking into account the risks and uncertainties surrounding the 
obligation. Where a provision is measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the present obligation, 
its carrying amount is the present value of those cash flows. 
 
Exploration and evaluation assets are assessed for impairment if facts and circumstances suggest that 
the carrying amount exceeds the recoverable amount. 
 
For the purpose of impairment testing, exploration and evaluation assets are allocated to cash-
generating units to which the exploration activity relates. The cash generating unit shall not be larger 
than the area of interest. 
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(i) Accounts Payable  
 
These amounts represent liabilities for goods and services provided to the Group prior to the end of the 
financial year and which are unpaid.  The amounts are unsecured and are usually paid within 30 days 
of recognition. 
 
(j) Contributed Equity 

 
Issued Capital 

 
Incremental costs directly attributable to issue of ordinary shares and share options are recognised as 
a deduction from equity, net of any related income tax benefit.  

 
(k) Earnings Per Share 

 
Basic earnings per share (“EPS”) are calculated based upon the net loss divided by the weighted average 
number of shares.  Diluted EPS are calculated as the net loss divided by the weighted average number 
of shares and dilutive potential shares. 

 
(l) Share-Based Payment Transactions 

 
The Group provides benefits to Directors, KMP and consultants of the Group in the form of share-based 
payment transactions, whereby employees and consultants render services in exchange for shares or 
rights over shares (“equity settled”) transactions. 
 
The value of equity settled securities is recognised, together with a corresponding increase in equity. 
 
Where the Group acquires some form of interest in an exploration tenement or an exploration area of 
interest and the consideration comprises share-based payment transactions, the fair value of the assets 
acquired are measured at grant date.  The value is recognised within capitalised mineral exploration and 
evaluation expenditure, together with a corresponding increase in equity.  
 
(m) Comparative Figures 
 
When required by Accounting Standards, comparative figures have been adjusted to conform to changes 
in presentation for the current financial year. 

 
(n)  Financial Risk Management 
 
The Board of Directors has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the risk 
management framework, to identify and analyse the risks faced by the Group.  These risks include credit 
risk, liquidity risk and market risk from the use of financial instruments.  The Group has only limited use 
of financial instruments through its cash holdings being invested in short term interest bearing 
securities.  The Group has no debt, and working capital is maintained at its highest level possible and 
regularly reviewed by the full board. 
 
(o) Financial Instruments  
 
A financial instrument is any contract that gives rise to a financial asset of one entity and a financial 
liability or equity instrument of another entity.  The Company determines the classification of its financial 
instruments at initial recognition.  
 
Financial assets 
From 1 July 2018, financial assets are classified at initial recognition a (i) subsequently measured at 
amortised cost, (ii) fair value through other comprehensive income (OCI) or (iii) fair value through profit 
or loss.  The classification depends on the purpose for which the financial assets were acquired. 
 
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss include financial assets held for trading, financial 
assets designed upon initial recognition at fair value through profit or loss, or financial assets 
mandatorily required to be measured at fair value.  Financial assets are classified as held for trading if 
they are acquired for the purpose of selling or repurchasing in the near term. Derivatives are also 
classified as held for trading unless they are designated as effective hedging instruments. 
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Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are carried in the statement of financial position at 
fair value with net changes in fair value recognised in the Income Statement within finance costs. 
Transaction costs arising on initial recognition are expensed in the Income Statement. 
 
Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income 
The financial asset is held for both collecting contractual cash flows and selling the financial asset. 
Movements in the carrying amount are taken through other comprehensive income and accumulated in 
the fair value reserve, except for the recognition of impairment, interest income and foreign exchange 
difference which are recognised directly in profit or loss. Interest income is calculated using the effective 
interest rate method. 
 
The Company’s financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income include it’s investment 
in listed equities. 
 
Financial assets at amortised cost 
Financial asset at amortised costs are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable 
payments that re not quoted in an active market. 
 
Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured using the effective interest (EIR) method 
and are subject to impairment. Gain and losses are recognised in profit or loss when the asset is 
derecognised, modified or impaired. 
 
The Company’s financial assets at amortised cost include ‘trade and other receivables’ and “cash and 
equivalents’ in the Balance Sheet. 
 
Financial liabilities 
Financial liabilities are classified at initial recognition as (i) financial liabilities at fair value through profit 
or, (ii) loans and borrowings, (iii) payables or (iv) derivatives designated as hedging instruments, as 
appropriate. All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and, in the case of loans and 
borrowings and payables, net directly attributable transaction costs. The Company’s financial liabilities 
include trade and other payables, loans and borrowings.  These are subsequently measured at amortised 
cost using the effective interest method. Gain and losses are recognised in the Income Statement when 
the liabilities are derecognised. Amortisation is included as finance costs in the Income Statement. 
 
Fair Value  
Fair value is determined based on current bid prices for all quoted investments.  Valuation techniques 
are applied to determine the fair value for all unlisted securities, including recent arm’s length 
transactions, reference to similar instruments and option pricing models. The expression “fair value” – 
and derivatives thereof – wherever used in this report bears the meaning ascribed to that expression 
by the Australian Accounting Standards Board.   
 
Impairment  
At each reporting date, the Company assesses whether there is objective evidence that a financial 
instrument has been impaired.  In the case of available-for-sale financial instruments, a prolonged 
decline in the value of the instrument is considered to determine whether an impairment has arisen.  
Impairment losses are recognised in the profit or loss. 
 
(p) Oil and gas assets  
 
The cost of oil and gas producing assets and capitalised expenditure on oil and gas assets under 
development are accounted for separately and are stated at cost less accumulated amortisation and 
impairment losses. Costs include expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition or 
construction of the item as well as past exploration and evaluation costs.  
 
When an oil and gas asset commences production, costs carried forward are amortised on a units of 
production basis over the life of the economically recoverable reserves. Changes in factors such as 
estimates of economically recoverable reserves that affect amortisation calculations do not give rise to 
prior financial period adjustments and are dealt with on a prospective basis. 
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(q) Impairment of Assets 
 
At each reporting date, the Group reviews the carrying values of its tangible assets to determine whether 
there is any indication that those assets have been impaired. If such an indication exists, the recoverable 
amount of the asset, being the higher of the asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value in use, is 
compared to the asset’s carrying value. Any excess of the asset’s carrying value over its recoverable 
amount is expensed to the income statement. Impairment testing is performed annually for goodwill 
and intangible assets with indefinite lives.  
 
Where it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the Group estimates 
the recoverable amount of the cash-generating until to which the asset belongs. 
 
(r) Employee Entitlements 
 
Liabilities for wages and salaries, annual leave and other current employee entitlements expected to be 
settled within 12 months of the reporting date are recognised in other payables in respect of employees’ 
services up to the reporting date and are measured at the amounts expected to be paid when the 
liabilities are settled.  Liabilities for non-accumulating sick leave are recognised when the leave is taken 
and measured at the rates paid or payable. 
 
Contributions to employee superannuation plans are charged as an expense as the contributions are 
paid or become payable. 
 
(r) Provisions 
 
Provisions are recognised when the Group has a legal or constructive obligation, as a result of past 
events, for which it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be the result and that outlay 
can be reliably measured. 
 
 
(s) Cash and Cash Equivalents 
 
Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, deposits held at call with banks, other short-term 
highly liquid investments with original maturities of 3 months or less, and bank overdrafts. Bank 
overdrafts are shown within short-term borrowings in current liabilities on the balance sheet. 
 
(t) Revenue and Other Income 
 
Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable. Amounts disclosed as 
revenue are net of returns, trade allowances, rebates and amounts collected on behalf of third parties. 
 
The group recognises revenue when the amount of revenue can be reliably measured, it is probable that 
future economic benefits will flow to the entity and specific criteria have been met for each of the Group’s 
activities as described below. The group bases its estimates on historical results, taking into 
consideration the type of customer, the type of transaction and the specifics of each arrangement. 
 
Revenue from Joint Operations is recognised based on its share of the sale by joint operation. 
 
Interest revenue is recognised using the effective interest rate method, which, for floating rate financial 
assets, is the rate inherent in the instrument. 
 
(u)  Acquisition of Subsidiary Not Deemed a Business Combination 
 
When an acquisition of assets does not constitute a business combination, the assets and liabilities are 
assigned a carrying amount based on their relative fair values in an asset purchase transaction and no 
deferred tax will arise in relation to the acquired assets and assumed liabilities as the initial exemption 
for deferred tax under AASB 12 applies. No goodwill will arise on the acquisition and transaction costs 
of the acquisition will be included in the capitalised cost of the asset. 
 
(v) Foreign Currency Translation 
 
Functional currency 
Items included in the financial statements of the Group’s operations are measured using the currency 
of the primary economic environment in which it operates (‘the functional currency’). 
 



Mosman Oil and Gas Limited  
Notes to the Financial Statements                                                               Annual Report 2019 

 51 

 
The functional currency of the Company and controlled entities registered in Australia is Australian 
dollars (AU$). 
 
The functional currency of the controlled entities registered in the US is United States dollars (US$). 
 
Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates ruling 
at the date of the transaction. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are 
retranslated at the rate of exchange ruling at the end of the reporting period. Foreign exchange gains 
and losses resulting from settling foreign currency transactions, as well as from restating foreign 
currency denominated monetary assets and liabilities, are recognised in profit or loss, except when they 
are deferred in other comprehensive income as qualifying cash flow hedges or where they relate to 
differences on foreign currency borrowings that provide a hedge against a net investment in a foreign 
entity. 
 
Non-monetary items measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange 
rates at the date when fair value was determined. 
 
Presentation currency 
The financial statements are presented in Australian dollars, which is the Group’s presentation currency. 
Functional currency balances are translated into the presentation currency using the exchange rates at 
the balance sheet date. Value differences arising from movements in the exchange rate is recognised in 
the statement of comprehensive income. 
 
(w) New standards and interpretations 
 
Account Standard and Interpretation  
 
The following Accounting Standards and Interpretations are most relevant to the consolidated entity:   
  
AASB 9 Financial Instruments  
The consolidated entity has adopted AASB 9 from 1 July 2018. The standard introduced new 
classification and measurement models for financial assets. A financial asset shall be measured at 
amortised cost if it is held within a business model whose objective is to hold assets in order to collect 
contractual cash flows which arise on specified dates and that are solely principal and interest.   
  
A debt investment shall be measured at fair value through other comprehensive income if it is held 
within a business model whose objective is to both hold assets in order to collect contractual cash flows 
which arise on specified dates that are solely principal and interest as well as selling the asset on the 
basis of its fair value.   
  
All other financial assets are classified and measured at fair value through profit or loss unless the entity 
makes an irrevocable election on initial recognition to present gains and losses on equity instruments 
(that are not held-for-trading or contingent consideration recognised in a business combination) in other 
comprehensive income ('OCI').   
  
Despite these requirements, a financial asset may be irrevocably designated as measured at fair value 
through profit or loss to reduce the effect of, or eliminate, an accounting mismatch. For financial 
liabilities designated at fair value through profit or loss, the standard requires the portion of the change 
in fair value that relates to the entity's own credit risk to be presented in OCI (unless it would create an 
accounting mismatch).   
  
New impairment requirements use an 'expected credit loss' ('ECL') model to recognise an allowance. 
Impairment is measured using a 12-month ECL method unless the credit risk on a financial instrument 
has increased significantly since initial recognition in which case the lifetime ECL method is adopted. For 
receivables, a simplified approach to measuring expected credit losses using a lifetime expected loss 
allowance is available. The Group has not recognised an ECL in the current period as the group has not 
recognised a bad debts expense since operations began. This can be attributed to the Group’s customer 
profile and credit policies in place. 
 
AASB 9 was adopted using the modified retrospective approach and as such comparatives were not 
restated.   
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AASB 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers  
The consolidated entity has adopted AASB 15 from 1 July 2018. The standard provides a single 
comprehensive model for revenue recognition. The core principle of the standard is that an entity shall 
recognise revenue to depict the transfer of promised goods or services to customers at an amount that 
reflects the consideration to which the entity expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or 
services. The standard introduced a new contract based revenue recognition model with a measurement 
approach that is based on an allocation of the transaction price. Credit risk is presented separately as 
an expense rather than adjusted against revenue. Contracts with customers are presented in an entity's 
statement of financial position as a contract liability, a contract asset, or a receivable, depending on the 
relationship between the entity's performance and the customer's payment. Customer acquisition costs 
and costs to fulfil a contract can, subject to certain criteria, be capitalised as an asset and amortised 
over the contract period. 
 
The consolidated entity’s main source of income is royalties, where the adoption of AASB 15 has been 
determined to not have a significant impact on the consolidated entity’s accounting policies or the 
amounts recognised in the financial statements. There is therefore no impact on opening retained profits 
as at 1 July 2018. 
 
Any new, revised or amending Accounting Standards or Interpretations that are not yet mandatory have 
not been adopted early. Adoption would not materially impact on this financial report.  
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Consolidated 
2019  

Consolidated  
     2018  

 $       $ 
   

2     Cost of sales   
Cost of sales 254,132 153,225 
Lease operating expenses 566,868 330,750 
 821,000 483,975 
  
3     Corporate Costs   
Accounting, Company Secretary and Audit fees 224,884 189,475 
Consulting fees – board 348,750 427,012 
Consulting fees – other 109,549 101,317 
Legal and compliance fees 88,323 75,742 
 771,506 793,546 
   
4     Costs associated with abandoned projects   
Costs incurred 13,777 - 
 13,777 - 

 
 

5     Other comprehensive (profit)/loss  
Loss on shares at fair value through other 
comprehensive income - 186,618 
Foreign currency (gain) (109,977) (140,974) 
 (109,977) 45,644 

 
6      Income Tax  
 
No income tax is payable by the Group as it has incurred losses for income tax purposes for the 
year, therefore current tax, deferred tax and tax expense is $NIL (2018 - $NIL).  
 
(a) Numerical reconciliation of income tax expense to prima facie tax payable  

 
 
 

Consolidated 
2019  

Consolidated  
     2018  

 $ $ 
   

Loss before tax (1,208,836) (4,068,512) 

Income tax calculated at 27.5% (2018: 27.5%) (332,429) (1,118,841) 
Tax effect of amounts which are deductible/non-
deductible 
In calculating taxable income: 

  

 JV share of profit (6,399) (9,457) 
 Legal and consulting expenses - 4,080 
 Impairment expense - - 
 Upfront exploration expenditure claimed (34,358) (50,859) 
 Other (137,518) (183,003) 
Effects of unused tax losses and tax offsets not 
recognised as deferred tax assets           510,704 773,488 

Income tax expense attributable to operating profit                            NIL NIL 
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6      Income Tax (continued) 
 (b) Tax Losses 
     

As at 30 June 2019 the Company had Australian tax losses of $10,875,861 (2018: $9,271,146). The 
benefit of deferred tax assets not brought to account will only be realised if: 
 
 Future assessable income is derived of a nature and of an amount sufficient to enable the benefit 

to be realised; and 
 The conditions for deductibility imposed by tax legislation continue to be complied with and no 

changes in tax legislation adversely affect the Company in realising the benefit.  
 
(c) Unbooked Deferred Tax Assets and Liabilities  

 

 
 
 

Consolidated 
2019  

Consolidated  
     2018  

 $ $ 
Unbooked deferred tax assets comprise: 
 
Capital Raising Costs 130,607 254,595 
Provisions/Accruals/Other 31,482 26,821 
Tax losses available for offset against future taxable 
income 2,990,862 2,549,565 

 3,152,951 2,830,981 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 

7     Auditors Remuneration    

    
Audit – Greenwich & Co Audit Pty Ltd    
 Audit of the financial statements  31,000 27,000 
  31,000 27,000 

8     Cash and Cash Equivalents    

 Cash at Bank   823,959 1,323,084 
 

9     Trade and Other Receivables    

Deposits  10,642 81,808 
GST receivable   18,002 32,574 
Cash calls receivable  208,791 47,432 
Accrued Revenue  84,516 - 
Other receivables  8,209 - 

  330,160 161,814 

10     Other assets      

Prepayments  35,756 5,944 
  35,756 5,944 

11     Loans receivable    

Loan to GEM International Resources Inc   119,034 100,826 
Loan to Blackstone Oil and Gas, Inc  210,210 168,216 
Other loans  7,957 7,957 
  337,201 276,999 
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12     Property, Plant and Equipment 
     
 Land and 

Buildings 
 

$ 

Office 
Equipment 

and Furniture 
$ 

Vehicles 
 
 

$ 

Total 
 
 

$ 
Cost     
Balance at 1 July 2018 - 165,713 - 165,713 
Additions - - - - 
Disposals - - - - 
Effective movement in exchange 
rates - - - - 
Balance at 30 June 2019 - 165,713 - 165,713 
     
Depreciation     
Balance at 1 July 2018 - 145,914 - 145,914 
Depreciation for the year - 5,765 - 5,765 
Disposals - - - - 
Effective movement in exchange 
rates - - - - 
Balance at 30 June 2019 - 151,679 - 151,679 
     
Carrying amounts     
Balance at 30 June 2018 - 19,799 - 19,799 
Balance at 30 June 2019 - 14,034 - 14,034 

 
 
 

Consolidated 
2019 

$  

Consolidated  
     2018 

$  

 
 

Consolidated 
2019 

$  

Consolidated  
     2018 

$  

  

13     Oil and Gas Assets                                                                                         

Cost brought forward  2,592,814 749,619 
Acquisition of oil and gas assets during the year  883,151 1,278,583 
Disposal of oil and gas assets on sale during the year  (133,503) - 
Capitalised equipment workovers during the year  645,602 587,060 
Amortisation for the year  (82,958) (22,448) 
Carrying value at end of year  3,905,106 

 
 

 

2,592,814 

 
 
 

14     Capitalised Oil and Gas Expenditure                                                                                             

Cost brought forward  1,491,019 4,073,115 
Exploration costs incurred during the year  124,937 144,316 
Exploration expenditure previously capitalised, written 
off in financial year 

 - (2,752,115) 

FX movement  - 25,703 
Carrying value at end of year  1,615,956 1,491,019 
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Consolidated 
2019  

 Consolidated 
     2018  

 $       $ 

 

 
18     Reserves 

 
  

15     Trade and Other Payables    

Trade creditors  503,470 273,844 
Other creditors and accruals  65,764 162,742 
  569,234 436,586 
  

  Consolidated 
2019  

$ 

Consolidated 
2018  

$ 

16     Provisions    
Employee provisions  27,170 19,000 
  27,170 19,000 

17 Contributed Equity   
    
 Ordinary Shares:   

 Value of Ordinary Shares fully paid   

Movement in Contributed Equity Number of 
shares 

Contributed 
Equity $ 

   
Balance as at 1 July 2017: 249,448,848 25,286,313 

  
Date 

Nature of 
Transaction Issue Price   

  05/10/2017 Shares issued $0.0205  49,999,333 1,026,486 

  22/02/2018 Shares issued (i) $0.0196 45,454,545 890,790 

  29/05/2018 Shares issued (i) $0.0097 109,090,091 1,050,055 
 Capital raising costs  - (208,840) 
 Balance as at 1 July 2018: 453,992,787 28,044,804 

  15/11/2018 Shares issued (i) $0.00486 41,090,908 199,717 

  23/11/2018 Shares issued (i) $0.00486 100,727,273 489,659 

  08/12/2018 Shares issued (i) $0.00495 40,000,000 198,000 

  20/05/2019 Shares issued (i) $0.00552 250,000,000 1,378,930 
Capital raisings costs - (146,238) 

 Balance at end of year 885,810,968 30,164,872 

(i) Placements via capital raising as announced 

  Consolidated 
2019  

$ 

Consolidated  
     2018  

$ 
    
Options reserve  471,818 471,818 
Asset revaluation reserve  (402,412) (402,411) 
Foreign currency translation reserve  461,431 351,453 
  530,837 420,860 
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18     Reserves (continued) 
 
Options Reserve 
 
Nature and purpose of the Option reserve 
 
The options reserve represents the fair value of equity instruments issued to employees as 
compensation and issued to external parties for the receipt of goods and services.  This reserve will 
be reversed against issued capital when the underlying shares are converted and reversed against 
retained earnings when they are allowed to lapse. 
 
 
 
 
Movement in Options Reserve 

Consolidated 
2019  

                                     $ 

Consolidated  
     2018  

$ 
   
Options Reserve at the beginning of the year 471,818 1,063,440 
Options issued - 55,365 
Options expired - (646,987) 
Options Reserve at the end of the year 471,818 471,818 

 
Foreign Currency Translation Reserve 
 
Nature and purpose of the Foreign Currency Translation Reserve 
 
Functional currency balances are translated into the presentation currency using the exchange rates 
at the balance sheet date. Value differences arising from movements in the exchange rate is 
recognised in the Foreign Currency Translation Reserve. 
 
 

 
Movement in Foreign Currency Translation Reserve 

Consolidated 
2019  

                                     $ 

Consolidated  
     2018  

$ 
   
Foreign Currency Translation Reserve at the beginning of 
the year 351,454 210,480 

Current year movement 109,977 140,974 
Foreign Currency Translation Reserve at the end of the 
year 461,431 351,454 

 
Asset Revaluation Reserve 
 
Changes in the fair value of investments classified as fair value through other comprehensive income 
(FVOCI) financial assets are taken to the available-for-sale investments revaluation reserve.   
 
 
 
Movement in Asset Revaluation Reserve 

Consolidated 
2019  

                                     $ 

Consolidated  
     2018  

$ 
   
Asset Revaluation Reserve at the beginning of the year - (215,794) 
Revaluation of FVOCI shares  (186,618) 
Reallocation of Asset Revaluation Reserve to Retained 
Earnings 

- - 

Asset Revaluation Reserve at the end of the year (402,412)1 (402,412) 

 
1. The asset revaluation reserve balance related to the accumulated loss on the investment in GEM International Resources 

Inc recorded in FY2017 and FY2018.   
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20     Related Party Transactions 

 
 

Consolidated 
2019  

Consolidated  
     2018  

 $       $ 
Key Management Personnel Remuneration 
   
 Cash Payments to Directors and Management (i)  

549,173
 

633,089 
Total 549,173  633,089 

 
i. During the year to 30 June 2019: 

 
a. Directors fees of $60,000 and consulting fees of $160,750 were paid and payable to 

Kensington Advisory Services Pty Ltd; 
b. Director fees of $30,000 and consulting fees of $188,000 were paid and payable to 

Australasian Energy Pty Ltd;  
c. Directors fees of $30,000 were paid to J A Young; 
d. CFO, Company Secretary and Consulting Fees totalling $80,423 were paid and payable to J 

T White’s accounting firm, Traverse Accountants Pty Ltd. 
 
Movement in Shares and Options 

 

The aggregate numbers of shares and options of the Company held directly, indirectly or beneficially by 
Key Management Personnel of the Company or their personally-related entities are fully detailed in the 
Directors’ Report. 
 
Amounts owing to the Company from subsidiaries: 
 

Trident Energy Pty Ltd 

At 30 June 2019 the Company’s 100% owned subsidiary, Trident Energy Pty Ltd, owed Mosman Oil and 
Gas Limited $2,883,384 (2018: $2,808,467). 

 

OilCo Pty Ltd 

At 30 June 2019 the Company’s 100% owned subsidiary, OilCo Pty Ltd (OilCo), owed Mosman Oil and 
Gas Limited $776,412 (2018: $778,717). 
 
Mosman Oil USA, Inc 
At 30 June 2019 the Company’s 100% owned subsidiary, Mosman Oil USA, Inc, owed Mosman Oil and 
Gas Limited $3,838,805 (2018: $2,643,885). 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

19     Accumulated Losses 
 

Consolidated 
2019 

$ 
 

Consolidated 
2018 

$ 
 

Accumulated losses at the beginning of the year 22,921,464 19,499,941 

Net loss attributable to members 1,180,516 4,068,510 

Reallocation of Asset Revaluation Reserve to Retained 
Earnings 

402,412 - 

Options expired during the year - (646,987) 

Accumulated losses at the end of the year 24,504,392 22,921,464 



Mosman Oil and Gas Limited  
Notes to the Financial Statements                                                               Annual Report 2019 

 59 

 
21 Expenditure Commitments 
 
(a) Exploration 
 
The Company has certain obligations to perform minimum exploration work on Oil and Gas tenements 
held.  These obligations may vary over time, depending on the Company’s exploration programs and 
priorities. At 30 June 2019, total exploration expenditure commitments for the next 12 months are as 
follows: 

Entity  Tenement  
2019 

$ 
2018 

$ 
Trident Energy Pty Ltd EP1451 - 121,500 
Oilco Pty Ltd  EPA155 - - 
  - 121,500 

 
1. EP145 is currently under renewal application, therefore there are no committed expenditures as of the date of this report. 

 
 

(b) Capital Commitments 
 
The Company had no capital commitments at 30 June 2019 (2018: $NIL).  
 
22    Segment Information 
 
The Group has identified its operating segments based on the internal reports that are reviewed and 
used by the board to make decisions about resources to be allocated to the segments and assess their 
performance. 
 
Operating segments are identified by the board based on the Oil and Gas projects in Australia, New 
Zealand and the USA. Discrete financial information about each project is reported to the board on a 
regular basis. 

 
The reportable segments are based on aggregated operating segments determined by the similarity of 
the economic characteristics, the nature of the activities and the regulatory environment in which those 
segments operate. 
 
The Group has three reportable segments based on the geographical areas of the mineral resource and 
exploration activities in Australia, New Zealand and the USA. Unallocated results, assets and liabilities 
represent corporate amounts that are not core to the reportable segments. 
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22    Segment Information (continued) 
 
 (i)       Segment performance     
 New 

Zealand 
$ 

United 
States 

$ 
Australia 

$ 
Total 

$ 
Year ended 30 June 2019     
Revenue     

Revenue - 1,106,095 - 1,106,095 
Interest income - 32,270 7,445 39,715 
Gain on sale of non-current assets 937 - - 937 
Other income - 425 41,958 42,383 

Segment revenue  937 1,138,790 49,403 1,189,130 

     
Segment Result      

Loss     
Allocated     
-      Corporate costs - (29,348) (742,158) (771,506) 
-      Administrative costs - (65,836) (114,852) (180,688) 
-      Lease operating expenses - (566,868) - (566,868) 
-      Cost of sales - (254,132) - (254,132) 
-      Share of net loss of joint operation - - - - 

Segment net profit (loss) before tax 937 222,606 (807,607) (584,064) 
     
Reconciliation of segment result to net 
loss before tax 

 
 

  

Amounts not included in segment result 
but reviewed by the Board     
-      Exploration expenditure previously              
capitalised, written off in financial year   (8,125) - - (8,125) 
-      Evaluation and due diligence - - (162,447) (162,447) 
-      Amortisation - (82,958) - (82,958) 

-      Projects abandoned (6,645) - (7,132) (13,777) 
-      Loss on sale of available-for-sale 
assets - (156,105) - (156,105) 

Unallocated items     

-      Employee benefits expense    (189,392) 

-      Foreign exchange loss    (3,953) 

-      Depreciation     (5,765) 

-      Finance costs     (2,250) 
Net Loss before tax from continuing 
operations    (1,208,836) 
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22     Segment Information (continued) 
 
(i)       Segment performance (continued)   
 New 

Zealand 
$ 

United 
States 

$ 

Australia 
$ 

Total 
$ 

Year ended 30 June 2018     
Revenue     

Revenue - 701,944 38,909 740,853 
Interest income - 7,196 916 8,112 
Foreign exchange gain - - 17,124 17,124 

Gain on sale of non-current assets 3,697 - - 3,697 

Other income 19,732 - - 19,732 

Segment revenue  23,429 709,140 56,949 789,518 

     
Segment Result      

Loss     
Allocated     
-      Corporate costs - (1,194) (792,352) (793,546) 
-      Administrative costs (6,624) (29,385) (130,509) (166,518) 
-      Lease operating expenses - (330,750) - (330,750) 
-      Cost of sales - (153,225) - (153,225) 
-      Share of net loss of joint operation - (33,721) - (33,721) 

Segment net (loss)/profit before tax 16,805 160,865 (865,912) (688,242) 
     
Reconciliation of segment result to net 
loss before tax 

    

Amounts not included in segment result but 
reviewed by the Board     
-      Exploration expenditure previously              
capitalised, written off in financial year   - - (2,767,040) 

        
(2,767,040) 

-      Evaluation and due diligence - (9,867) (229,655) (239,522) 
-      Amortisation - (22,448) - (22,448) 
-      Pre acquisition costs - - (44,775) (44,775) 
-      Loss on sale of available-for-sale 
assets - - (76,443) (76,443) 
Unallocated items     
-      Employee benefits expense    (213,189) 
-      Share based payments    (40,567) 
-      Depreciation     (10,005) 
Net Loss before tax from continuing 
operations    (4,102,231) 

     

     

     

     
 
 
 
 
 
 

    

     

     



Mosman Oil and Gas Limited  
Notes to the Financial Statements                                                               Annual Report 2019 

 62 

 
22     Segment Information (continued) 
 

   

(ii)       Segment assets     

 

New 
Zealand 

$ 

 
United States 

$ 
Australia 

$ 
Total 

$ 

     
Total assets as at 1 July 2018 60,911 3,098,906 2,868,289 6,028,106 
Segment asset balances at end of 
year     

-      Exploration and evaluation - - 1,615,956 1,615,956 
-      Capitalised Oil and Gas 

Assets - 4,126,703 - 4,126,703 

-      Less: Amortisation - (88,094) - (88,094) 
-      Less: Expenditure 

previously capitalised, written off in 
financial year - (133,503) - (133,503) 

 -  3,905,106  1,615,956 5,521,062 

     
Reconciliation of segment assets to 
total assets:     

Other assets - 713,510 955,561 1,669,071 
Total assets from continuing 
operations 
As at 30 June 2019 - 4,618,616 2,571,517 7,190,133 

 
 

 

New 
Zealand 

$ 

 
United States 

$ 
Australia 

$ 
Total 

$ 

     
Total assets as at 1 July 2017 392,510 953,669 6,072,294 7,418,473 
Segment asset balances at end of 
year     

-      Exploration and evaluation - - 4,243,134 4,243,134 
-      Capitalised Oil and Gas 

Assets - 2,623,251 - 2,623,251 

-      Less: Amortisation - (30,437) - (30,437) 
-      Less: Expenditure 

previously capitalised, written off in 
financial year - - (2,752,115) (2,752,115) 

 - 2,592,814  1,491,019  4,083,833 

     
Reconciliation of segment assets to 
total assets:     

Other assets 60,911 506,092 1,377,270 1,944,273 
Total assets from continuing 
operations 
As at 30 June 2018 60,911 3,098,906 2,868,289 6,028,106 
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22     Segment Information (continued) 
 
(iii)     Segment liabilities     
 New Zealand 

$ 
United States 

$ 
Australia 

$ 
Total 

$ 

     
Segment liabilities as at 1 
July 2018 146,071 136,374 173,141 455,586 
Segment liability increases 
(decreases) for the year (146,071) 179,818 107,071 140,818 

 - 316,192 280,212 596,404 
Reconciliation of segment 
liabilities to total liabilities:     

Other liabilities - - - - 
Total liabilities from continuing 
operations 
As at 30 June 2019 - 316,192 280,212 596,404 
     
     
Segment liabilities as at 1 
July 2017 162,478 69,679 279,777 511,934 
Segment liability increases 
(decreases) for the year (16,407) 66,695 (106,636) (56,348) 

 146,071 136,374 173,141 455,586 
Reconciliation of segment 
liabilities to total liabilities:     
Other liabilities - - - - 
Total liabilities from continuing 
operations 
As at 30 June 2018 146,071 136,374 173,141 455,586 
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23       Producing assets 
 
The Group currently has 3 (previously 4) producing assets, which the Board monitors as separate items to the geographical and operating 
segments. The Arkoma, Stanley, Strawn and Welch are Oil and Gas producing assets in the United States.  
 
It should be noted that the Strawn Project was a 50% joint operation  and as a result the amounts below are only the apportionment of the 
Mosman ownership right. As noted elsewhere in this report the Strawn project was divested throughout the year due to its poor performance.  
 
Project performance is monitored by the line items below.  

 
Project performance      
 Arkoma 

$ 
Stanley  

$ 
Strawn 

$ 
Welch  

$ 
Total 

$ 

Year Ended 30 June 2019      
Revenue      
Oil and gas project related revenue 39,342 128,687 56,310 881,756 1,106,095 

Producing assets revenue 39,342 128,687 56,310 881,756 1,106,095 

      
Project-related expenses      

- Cost of sales 1,307 6,408 21,014 225,403 254,132 
- Lease operating expenses (8,335) 26,513 58,566 490,124 566,868 

Project cost of sales (7,028) 32,921 79,580 715,527 821,000 

   
Project gross profit      

Gross profit/(loss) 46,370 95,766 (23,270) 166,229 285,095 
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23       Producing assets (continued) 
 

Project performance      
 Arkoma 

$ 
Stanley  

$ 
Strawn 

$ 
Welch  

$ 
Total 

$ 

Year Ended 30 June 2018      
Revenue      
Oil and gas project related revenue 33,098 - 147,934 520,912 701,944 
Cash call revenue - - 29,385 - 29,385 

Producing assets revenue 33,098 - 177,319 520,912 731,329 

      
Project-related expenses      

- Cost of sales - - 27,951 125,273 153,225 
- Lease operating expenses 17,045 - 159,418 192,174 368,637 

Project cost of sales 17,045 - 187,369 317,447 521,862 

   
Project gross profit      

Gross profit/(loss) 16,053 - (10,051) 203,465 209,467 

   
Overhead costs      

- Administrative costs - - 806 - 806 
- Employee benefits - - 23,531 - 23,531 

Project net profit/(loss) before tax 16,053 - (34,388) 203,465 185,130 
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24     Earnings/ (Loss) per shares 
 
 

Consolidated 
2019 

$  

Consolidated  
     2018 

$  
The following reflects the loss and share data used in the 
calculations of basic and diluted earnings/ (loss) per 
share:   
   

 Earnings/ (loss) used in calculating basic and diluted 
earnings/ (loss) per share (1,208,836) (4,147,875) 
   

 

Number of 
shares 

2019 

Number of 
shares 

2018 
   

 Weighted average number of ordinary shares used in 
calculating basic earnings/(loss) per share: 590,422,674 311,116,999 
   
Basic loss per share (cents per share) 0.20 1.33 

 
 
25     Notes to the statement of cash flows 
 
Reconciliation of loss from ordinary activities after income 
tax to net cash outflow from operating activities: 

Consolidated 
2019 

Consolidated 
2018 

 $ $ 
Loss from ordinary activities after related income tax (1,218,985) (4,102,231) 
   
Share based payments 10,149 40,567 
Depreciation and amortisation 88,722 32,163 
Previously capitalised expenses, written off - 2,767,040 
Fixed assets disposed of during the year 156,105 181,529 
Share of loss of joint operations - 33,721 
Fair value loss on available-for-sale assets - 76,442 
Decrease in other assets  - 318,034 
Decrease/(increase) in trade and other receivables (197,519) 182,792 
Increase in inventory 28,672 (106,633) 
Change in value of NCI - 95,762 
Increase in trade and other payables  140,818 (46,647) 
Unrealised FX 112,419 - 
Net cash outflow from operating activities (879,619) (527,461) 

 
 
26     Financial Instruments 

 
The Company's activities expose it to a variety of financial and market risks.  The Company's overall 
risk management program focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimize 
potential adverse effects on the financial performance of the Company. 
 

(i)  Interest Rate Risk 
 

The Company’s exposure to interest rate risk, which is the risk that a financial instrument’s 
value will fluctuate as a result of changes in market, interest rates and the effective weighted 
average interest rates on those financial assets, is as follows: 
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26     Financial Instruments (continued) 

 
Consolidated 
2019 

Note 
Weighted 

Average 
Effective 
Interest 

% 

Funds 
Available at 

a Floating 
Interest 

Rate 
$ 

Fixed 
Interest 

Rate 
 
 

$ 

Assets/ 
Liabilities 

Non 
Interest 
Bearing 

$ 

Total 
 
 
 
 

$ 

Financial Assets       
Cash and Cash 
Equivalents 8 3.80% 823,959 - - 823,959 
Trade and other 
Receivables 9  - - 330,160 330,160 
Other assets   10  - - 35,756 35,756 
Total Financial 
Assets   823,959 - 365,916 1,189,875 
       
Financial Liabilities       
Trade and other 
Payables 15  - - 569,234 569,234 
Provisions  16  - - 27,170 27,170 
Total Financial 
Liabilities   - - 596,404 596,404 
Net Financial 
Assets/(Liabilities)   823,959 - (230,488) 593,471 

 
       
Consolidated 
2018 

Note 
Weighted 

Average 
Effective 
Interest 

% 

Funds 
Available at 

a Floating 
Interest 

Rate 
$ 

Fixed 
Interest 

Rate 
 
 

$ 

Assets/ 
(Liabilities) 

Non 
Interest 
Bearing 

$ 

Total 
 
 
 
 

$ 

Financial Assets       
Cash and Cash 
Equivalents 8 0.5% 1,323,084 - - 1,323,084 
Trade and other 
Receivables 9  - - 161,814 161,814 
Other assets   10  - - 5,944 5,944 
Total Financial 
Assets   1,323,084 - 167,758 1,490,842 
       
Financial Liabilities       
Trade and other 
Payables 15  - - 436,586 436,586 
Provisions  16  - - 19,000 19,000 
Total Financial 
Liabilities   - - 455,586 455,586 
Net Financial 
Assets/(Liabilities)   1,323,084 - (287,828) 1,035,255 
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26     Financial Instruments (continued) 
 

(ii) Credit Risk 
 

 The maximum exposure to credit risk, excluding the value of any collateral or other security, at 
balance date, is the carrying amount, net of any provisions for doubtful debts, as disclosed in 
the balance sheet and in the notes to the financial statements. The Company does not have any 
material credit risk exposure to any single debtor or group of debtors, under financial 
instruments entered into by it. 

               
(iii) Commodity Price Risk and Liquidity Risk 

 
At the present state of the Company’s operations it has minimal commodity price risk and limited 
liquidity risk due to the level of payables and cash reserves held.  The Company’s objective is 
to maintain a balance between continuity of exploration funding and flexibility through the use 
of available cash reserves.  

 
(iv) Net Fair Values 

 
For assets and other liabilities, the net fair value approximates their carrying value.  No financial 
assets and financial liabilities are readily traded on organised markets in standardised form.  The 
Company has no financial assets where the carrying amount exceeds net fair values at balance 
date. 
 
The aggregate net fair values and carrying amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities 
are disclosed in the balance sheet and in the notes to the financial statements. 
 

27     Contingent Liabilities 
 
 There were no material contingent liabilities not provided for in the financial statements of the   

Company as at 30 June 2019. 
 
 
28     Mosman Oil and Gas Limited - Parent Entity Disclosures  
 
   2019 2018 
   $ $ 

Financial position 
  

 
 

Assets     
Current assets   837,100 1,224,198 
Non-current assets   15,157,158 13,853,962 
Total assets   15,994,258 15,078,160 
     
Liabilities     
Current liabilities   233,970 310,716 
Total liabilities   233,970 310,716 
Net assets    15,760,288 14,767,444 

     
Equity     
Contributed equity   30,164,205 28,044,137 
Reserves    69,408 69,408 
Accumulated losses   (14,473,325) (13,346,101) 
Total Equity   15,760,288 14,767,444 

     
Financial Performance     
Loss for the year   (1,127,224) (1,414,170) 
Other comprehensive income   - - 
Total comprehensive loss   (1,127,224) (1,414,170) 
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29     Controlled Entities  
 
Investments in group entities comprise: 

Name 
 
Principal activities Incorporation 

Beneficial 
percentage held by 

economic entity 
   2019        2018 
   % % 
Mosman Oil and Gas Limited  Parent entity Australia   
Wholly owned and controlled 
entities:     

Mosman Oil & Gas Limited Oil & Gas exploration 
New 
Zealand 100 100 

Mosman Oil and Gas (NZ) 
Limited Oil & Gas exploration 

New 
Zealand 100 100 

OilCo Pty Limited Oil & Gas exploration Australia 100 100 
Trident Energy Pty Ltd Oil & Gas exploration Australia 100 100 
Mosman Oil USA, INC. Oil & Gas operations U.S.A. 100 100 
Mosman Texas, LLC Oil & Gas operations U.S.A. 100 100 
Mosman Operating, LLC Oil & Gas operations U.S.A. 100 100 

 
Mosman Oil and Gas Limited is the Parent Company of the Group, which includes all of the controlled 
entities. See also Note 31 Subsequent Events for additional corporate activity in progress subsequent 
to the 30 June 2019 year end.      
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29     Controlled Entities (continued) 
 
Set out below is summarised financial information for each subsidiary that has non-controlling interests 
that are material to the group. The amounts disclosed are for the Strawn project in Mosman Operating, 
LLC and are before inter-company eliminations. 
 
Summarised Statement of Financial Position  2019 2018 

 $ $ 
     

Current Assets     
Cash and cash equivalents   108,663 4,769 
Trade and other receivables   209,433 168,535 
Inventory   - 63,392 
Total Current Assets   318,096 236,696 
     
Total Assets   318,096 236,696 
     
Current Liabilities     
Trade and other payables   119,470 160,114 
Total Current Liabilities   119,470 160,114 
     
Non-Current Liabilities     
Loan to related party  190,990 24,279 
Total Non-Current Liabilities   190,990 24,279 
     
Total Liabilities   310,460 184,393 
     
     
Net Assets   7,636 52,303 

     
Equity     
Contributed equity   1,335 1,335 
Reserves    (2,280) (3,007) 
Retained earnings   8,581 53,975 
Total Equity   7,636 52,303 

     
Accumulated Non-Controlling Interest  - 26,151 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  

  
   



Mosman Oil and Gas Limited  
Notes to the Financial Statements                                                               Annual Report 2019 

 71 

 
29     Controlled Entities (continued) 
     
Summarised Statement of Comprehensive Income 2019 2018 
   $ $ 
     
     
Revenue   112,620 295,867 
Cost of sales   (42,028) (55,902) 
Gross profit   70,592 239,965 
     
Other income   215,854 58,770 
     
Lease operating expenses   (332,986) (320,449) 
Employee benefits expense   - (47,063) 
(Loss)/profit from ordinary 
activities before income tax 
expense 

  

(46,540) (68,777) 
     
Income tax expense   - - 
     
Net loss for the year   (46,540) (68,777) 
     
Total comprehensive profit for the 
year is attributable to: 

  
  

Shareholders   - - 
Non-controlling interest   - - 
Total comprehensive loss attributable to 
member of the entity 

 
(46,540) (68,777) 

     
(Loss)/profit allocated to non-controlling 
interest 

 
(23,270) (34,388) 

     

    
Summarised Statement of Cash Flows  2019 2018 
   $ $ 
Cash flows from operating activities   (62,816) (131,480) 
Cash flows from investing activities   - 10,721 
Cash flows from financing activities   166,710 - 
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash 
equivalents 

   
 (103,895) (120,759) 
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30     Share Based Payments  
  
 Consolidated 

2019 
Consolidated 

2018 
 $ $ 
Basic loss per share (cents per share) 0.20 1.33 

 
The following share based payment arrangements existed at 30 June 2019: 
 
Each of the three classes of unlisted options detailed below entitle the holder to acquire one Ordinary 
share of the Company on the terms disclosed, but do not entitle the holder to participate in any share 
issue or dividends of the Company and are not transferable. All options vested on the grant date and 
were therefore not dependent on performance. Options do not lapse on a Director leaving the 
Company. 
 

(1) On 18 December 2017, 10,000,000 Options were issued to KMP to take up ordinary shares 
of the Company at an exercise price of 2 GB pence each. The options are exercisable on or 
before 15 December 2020.  
 

(2) On 15 February 2018, 750,000 Options were issued to UK consultants involved in the AIM 
IPO to take up ordinary shares of the Company at an exercise price of 2 GB pence each. 
The options are exercisable on or before 15 February 2021.  
 

A summary of the movements of all company option issues to 30 June 2019 is as follows: 
 
Company Options  2019 

Number of 
Options 

2018 
Number of 

Options 

2019 
Weighted 

Average 
Exercise 

Price 

2018 
Weighted 

Average 
Exercise 

Price 
Outstanding at the beginning of the 
year 14,809,372 7,859,372 $0.0516 $0.1500 
Expired (4,059,372) (3,800,000)   
Granted  90,909,091 10,750,000 $0.0040 $0.0020 
Outstanding at the end of the year 101,659,091  14,809,372 $0.0057 $0.0516 
Exercisable at the end of the year 101,659,091  14,809,372 $0.0057 $0.0516 

 
 
31  Events Subsequent to the End of the Financial Year  

   
Subsequent to balance date the company notes the following material developments to the group: 
 

 The sale of Strawn was formally announced to AIM on 1 July 2019. The sale had concluded but 
for the final signing of documents in the last week of the 30 June 2019 financial year meaning 
that all net losses and items associated with Strawn are reflected in the accounts to 30 June 
2019; 

 Mosman is awaiting Ministerial consent for the next licence year for the EP 145 project; 
 Stanley-2 well that was drilled in March 2019 was successfully placed into regular production in 

July 2019; 
 Stanley-3 well was spudded in August 2019. The well was successfully developed and 

completed. The company reports in September that during flow testing the stabilised rate of the 
well was 192 bopd which was updated in October to be an average of 115 bopd and expected 
to settled over the coming months; 
The Company’s next investment plans as announced over the coming months was to focus on 
Stanley-4 and the Champion project; 

 Noted that GEM International Resources Inc has subsequently delisted from the TSX-V and 
applied successfully for listing on the Canadian NEX exchange. This asset has been 100% 
impaired on Mosman’s balance sheet in previous financial periods so the relisting of GEM would 
provide a favourable variance to Mosman’s balance sheet and working capital position.  

 Noted that there is also an AUD100,000 loan owed by GEM to Mosman that will have a higher 
probability of repayment assuming the successful relisting of GEM leads to additional capital 
being raised by GEM. 
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31  Events Subsequent to the End of the Financial Year (continued) 
 
In the opinion of the Directors there were no other significant changes in the state of affairs of the 
Company that occurred during the financial year under review. 
  
 
There have been no significant events subsequent to reporting date other than stated above. 
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Directors’ Declaration 
 
The Directors of the Company declare that: 
 
1.  The financial statements and notes, as set out on pages 40-73, are in accordance with the 

Australian Corporations Act 2001:  
 

(a) comply with Accounting Standards, which, as stated in Note 1 - Statement of Accounting 
Policies to the financial statements, constitutes compliance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards (IFRS); and 

 
(b)       give a true and fair view of the financial position as at 30 June 2019 and of the 

performance for the year ended on that date of the Group. 
 
2.  In the Directors’ opinion there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be 

able to pay its debts as and when they become due and payable. 
 
This declaration is made in accordance with a resolution of the Board of Directors and is signed by 
authority for and on behalf of the Directors by: 
 
 
 
 
 
John W Barr 
Executive Chairman 
 
 
31 October 2019 
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